# SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE

Adopted August 14, 1985



2020 VERSION

# EDITOR'S NOTE:

The Clarke County Subdivision Ordinance is updated and reprinted annually in January and incorporates any text amendments that were adopted in the previous year. There were no text amendment changes in 2019.

101 Chalmers Court, Suite B Berryville, VA 22611 (540) 955-5132

# **Table of Contents**

Article Section - Page

| 1 |            | RPOSE, TITLE AND GENERAL PROVISIONS                       | 1 1        |
|---|------------|---|------------|
|   | 1-A        | PURPOSE   |            |
|   | 1-B<br>1-C | TITLEGENERAL PROVISIONS                                   |            |
|   | 1-C        | GENERAL PROVISIONS  | 1-1        |
| 2 | US         | AGE AND DEFINITIONS                                       |            |
|   | 2-A        | GENERAL USAGE   | 2-1        |
|   | 2-B        | DEFINITIONS   |            |
|   | 2-C        | DEFINITION DISPUTES                                       | 2-6        |
| 3 | ΔD         | MINISTRATION  |            |
| , | 3-A        | ADMINISTRATION BY PLANNING COMMISSION                     | 3-1        |
|   | 3-B        | PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES                                     |            |
|   | 3-C        | REGULATIONS   |            |
|   | 3-D        | OBTAINING OPINIONS  |            |
|   | 3-E        | SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN TWO JURISDICITONS                  |            |
| 4 |            |   |            |
| 4 | 4-A        | OCEDURE FOR SUBDIVISION APPROVAL                          | 1 1        |
|   | 4-A<br>4-B | PRE APPLICATION CONFERENCE REQUIREMENT                    |            |
|   | 4-B<br>4-C | ACCEPTANCE FOR FILING                                     |            |
|   | 4-C<br>4-D | PUBLIC DISCLOSURE   |            |
|   | 4-E        | REPORT TO PLANNING COMMISSION                             |            |
|   | 4-F        | PUBLIC HEARING  |            |
|   | 4-G        | ACTION ON PRELIMINARY PLAT                                |            |
|   | 4-H        | SUBMISSION OF PLANS AND PROFILES                          |            |
|   | 4-I        | SUBMISSION OF RECORD PLAT                                 |            |
|   | 4-J        | ACTION ON RECORD PLAT                                     |            |
|   | 4-K        | RECORDATION OF PLATS                                      |            |
|   | 4-L        | BURDEN OF PROOF   | 4-9        |
|   | 4-M        | ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DIVISIONS                             | 4-9        |
|   | 4-N        | APPLICATIONS FOR SUBDIVISIONS IN THE FORESTAL-OPEN SPACE- |            |
|   |            | CONSERVATION (FOC) DISTRICT                               | 4-10       |
| 5 | FN         | VIRONMENTAL INVENTORY AND IMPACT STATEMENT                |            |
| _ | 5-A        | APPLICATIONS  | 5-1        |
|   | 5-B        | WHEN REQUIRED   |            |
| , |            |   |            |
| 6 |            | NSUMER DISCLOSURE STATEMENT                               | <i>(</i> 1 |
|   | 6-A        | WHEN REQUIREDADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED              |            |
|   | 6-B        |   |            |
|   | 6-C        | RECORDATION   | 0-2        |
| 7 | DE'        | TAILS OF PLAT REQUIREMENTS                                |            |
|   | 7-A        | EXPLORATORY SKETCH PLANS                                  |            |
|   | 7-B        | PRELIMINARY PLAT  |            |
|   | 7-C        | RECORD PLAT   | 7-4        |

| 8  | DES                 | SIGN REQUIREMENTS                               |      |
|----|---------------------|---|------|
|    | 8-A                 | DESIGN PRINCIPLES                               |      |
|    | 8-B                 | LOTS AND BUILDING AREAS                         | 8-1  |
|    | 8-C                 | STREETS   | 8-2  |
|    | 8-D                 | PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION                          | 8-4  |
|    | 8-E                 | COMMON OPEN SPACE                               | 8-4  |
|    | 8-F                 | PUBLIC FACILITIES                               | 8-4  |
|    | 8-G                 | UTILITY EASEMENTS                               | 8-4  |
|    | 8-H                 | UNSAFE LAND                                     | 8-5  |
|    | 8-I                 | DRAINAGE  | 8-5  |
|    | 8-J                 | PRIVATE ACCESS EASEMENTS                        | 8-5  |
| 9  | GENERAL REGULATIONS |   |      |
|    | 9-A                 | MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY                           |      |
|    | 9-B                 | TRANSFERS, SALES AND PERMITS TO BUILD           |      |
|    | 9-C                 | SUBDIVISION NOT EXEMPT FROM OTHER LAWS          |      |
|    | 9-D                 | SECTIONAL DEVELOPMENT                           |      |
|    | 9-E                 | NORMAL REQUIREMENTS AND VARIATIONS              |      |
|    | 9-F                 | DEDICATION OF STREETS                           |      |
|    | 9-G                 | PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA                      |      |
|    | 9-H                 | PLANNED DEVELOPMENT                             |      |
|    | 9-I                 | CONFLICTS IN REGULATIONS                        | 9-2  |
| 10 | ) S                 | PECIAL REGULATIONS                              |      |
|    | 10-A                | CLUSTER SUBDIVISION                             | 10-1 |
|    | 10-B                | SEPTIC TANKS                                    | 10-1 |
|    | 10-C                | FLOOD PLAINS                                    |      |
|    | 10-D                | BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENTS                       | 10-2 |
|    | 10-E                | MERGER  | 10-4 |
|    | 10-F                | CERTAIN MERGERS, BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENTS, AND |      |
|    |                     | ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DIVISIONS                   | 10-4 |
| 11 |                     | MPROVEMENTS AND BONDS                           |      |
|    | 11-A                | IMPROVEMENTS                                    |      |
|    | 11-B                | AGREEMENTS AND BONDS                            |      |
|    | 11 <b>-</b> C       | CONSTRUCTION RESPONSIBILITIES                   | 11-4 |
| 12 | 2 E                 | FFECTUAL CLAUSES                                |      |
|    | 12-A                | VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES                        | 12-1 |
|    | 12-B                | APPEALS   | 12-1 |
|    | 12-C                | VALIDITY  | 12-1 |
|    | 12 <b>-</b> D       | AMENDMENTS                                      | 12-2 |
|    | 12-E                | VACATION OF PLAT                                | 12-2 |
|    | 12-F                | FEES  | 12-2 |
|    | 12-G                | EFFECTIVE DATE                                  | 12-2 |

#### 1 PURPOSE, TITLE AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### 1-A PURPOSE

(6/10/97)

- 1-A-1 The purpose of this Ordinance is to establish subdivision standards and procedures for all the unincorporated areas of Clarke County, Virginia, except for that area which is under the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the Town of Berryville insofar as subdivision control is concerned.
- 1-A-2 These regulations are part of a long range plan to guide and facilitate the orderly, beneficial growth of the community and to promote the public health, safety, convenience, comfort, prosperity and general welfare. More specifically, but not in limitation, the purpose of these standards and procedures is as follows:
  - 1-A-2-a To avoid undue water pollution, unreasonable depreciation of existing water supplies, unreasonable soil erosion, undue air pollution, unreasonable and unsafe highway conditions, and undue adverse effects on existing septic systems.
  - 1-A-2-b To assure sufficient water supplies, adequate drainage, and adequate access to lots.
  - 1-A-2-c To adequately provide for traffic, recreation, light, and air.
  - 1-A-2-d To control subdivision or building in flood plain areas, in unsafe land areas, and in unsuitable and unsightly areas.
  - 1-A-2-e To assure that consumers are purchasing property that is suitable for development and use.

#### 1-B TITLE

This Ordinance is known and may be cited as the "Subdivision Ordinance of Clarke County, Virginia," and is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 15.2, Chapter 22, Article 6 of the Code of the Commonwealth of Virginia, as amended.

#### 1-C GENERAL PROVISIONS

(11/16/12)

#### 1-C-1 Private Contracts

This Ordinance bears no relation to any private easement or covenant, and the responsibility of enforcing such private easement, covenant, agreement, or restriction is not implied herein to any public official. When this Ordinance calls for more restrictive standards than those required by private contract, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control.

#### 1-C-2 Interpretation

The provisions of this Ordinance shall be the minimum requirements for submission, preparation, and recordation of all plans and plats.

# 2 USAGE AND DEFINITIONS

| 2-A        | GENERAL USAGE  |
|------------|--|
|            | For the purpose of this Ordinance, certain words and terms are herein defined as follows:  |
| 2-A-1      | Words used in the present tense include the future tense and words in the singular number include the plural number or words in the plural number include the singular number, unless the obvious construction of the wording indicates otherwise. |
| 2-A-2      | The word "shall" is mandatory, and not directory.  |
| 2-A-3      | Unless otherwise specified, all distances shall be measured horizontally and at right angles to the line in relation to which the distance is specified.   |
| 2-A-4      | The word "building" includes the word "structure"; the word "lot" includes the words "plot" and "parcel."  |
| 2-A-5      | The word "used" shall be deemed also to include "erected," "reconstructed," "altered," "placed," or "moved."   |
| 2-A-6      | The terms "land use" and "use of land" shall be deemed also to include "building use" and "use of a building."   |
| 2-A-7      | The word "State" means the Commonwealth of Virginia.   |
| 2-A-8      | The word "County" means the County of Clarke, Commonwealth of Virginia, and the term "county boundary" means any exterior boundary of the County or any boundary of unincorporated territory within the County.                                    |
| 2-A-9      | The word "approve" shall be considered to be followed by the words "or disapprove."  |
| 2-A-10     | The word "person" includes a firm, association, organization, partnership, trust, company, or corporation, as well as an individual.   |
| 2-A-11     | Reference to "Code of Virginia" or to this Ordinance shall include "as amended."   |
| 2-A-12     | The word "adjacent" means "nearby" and not necessarily "contiguous," unless the obvious construction of the wording indicates otherwise.   |
| 2-B        | DEFINITIONS  |
| (10/21/14) | ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DIVISION: A division of land into two or more parcels with each  |

being a minimum of 100 acres. Such divisions shall not be considered a major or minor subdivision and shall be acted upon administratively by the Zoning Administrator.

ADVERSE DRAINAGE CONDITION: The absence of drainage facilities or drainage easements leading to, along or through a highway or drainage structure, either within or exterior to a proposed subdivision including: Facilities of such location, size, design, construction, or condition as will not provide adequately for storm drainage; or which will cause either flooding, erosion, silting or other damaging effect to a highway or drainage structure; or threatens to damage private property within or without the proposed subdivision as a result of storm drainage from, along, or through a highway or drainage structure.

ALLEY: A permanent service way providing a secondary means of access to abutting properties.

BLOCK: An area enclosed by an adjacent, and usually by intersecting, streets.

BOARD: The Board of Supervisors of Clarke County, Virginia.

BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENT: The relocation of one or more boundary lines between parcels of land, resulting in the same number of parcels of land as before the Boundary Line Adjustment.

BUILDING SETBACK LINE: A line showing the minimum distance by which any structure (exclusive of signs) must be separated from the front lot line of a lot.

COMMISSION: The Planning Commission of Clarke County, Virginia.

COUNTY: Clarke County, Virginia.

COVENANT: A written agreement or promise between two or more parties, especially for the performance of some action.

CUL-DE-SAC: A street with only one outlet and having an appropriate turnaround for a safe and convenient reverse traffic movement.

DEDICATION FOR ROAD PURPOSES: An easement for the purpose of construction, reconstruction, widening or improving a road, including the repair and maintenance of the road and the construction, reconstruction, or alteration of facilities related to the safety, convenience or carrying capacity of the road including drainage facilities and traffic control devices.

DEVELOPER: An owner of property being subdivided, whether or not represented by an agent.

DEVELOPMENT: The process of erecting or causing to be erected buildings or structures on a lot, or the physical preparation of a lot for the purpose of such erection.

DRAINAGE EASEMENT OR DRAINAGE RIGHT-OF-WAY: Assignable rights-of-way across land to provide for the alignment and maintenance of drainage course, installation of drainage facilities, enlargement of existing drainage ways or for similar or related storm drainage purposes.

EASEMENT: A grant by a property owner of the use of, or non-use of, land for a specific purpose on a repeating or continuous basis.

ENGINEER: An engineer licensed by the Commonwealth of Virginia.

FLOOD, 100 YEAR: The highest level of flooding that, based upon an analysis of past floods, is likely to occur once in every one hundred (100) years.

FLOOD PLAIN: Sections of land, adjacent to bodies of water, which will be covered by floodwater in a 100-year flood.

GOVERNING BODY: The Board of Supervisors of Clarke County, Virginia.

HEALTH OFFICIAL: The Health Director or Sanitarian serving Clarke County, Virginia.

HIGHWAY ENGINEER: The Resident Engineer employed by the Virginia Department of Transportation.

IMPROVEMENT: Streets, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, water mains, drainage facilities, landscaping, recreational facilities and all other such betterment as may be required under the provisions of this Ordinance.

JURISDICTION: The area of territory subject to the legislative control of the governing body.

LOT: A numbered and recorded portion of a tract, division, or subdivision, intended for transfer of ownership or for development for a single building or accessory building.

LOT, CORNER: A lot abutting upon two or more streets at their intersection; the shortest side fronting upon a street shall be considered the front of the lot, and the longest side fronting upon a street shall be considered the side of the lot.

LOT, DEPTH OF: The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines.

LOT, DOUBLE FRONTAGE: An interior lot having frontage on two streets.

LOT, INTERIOR: A lot other than a corner lot.

LOT LINE: A line dividing one lot from another or from a street or other public place.

LOT OF RECORD: A lot, which has been recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the appropriate Court.

(10/21/14) LOT, RESIDUAL (or RESIDUAL PARCEL): The portion of a lot of record that remains after the creation of a new lot or lots.

LOT, WIDTH OF: The mean horizontal distance between the side lot lines

(11/20/12) MERGER: The elimination of one or more boundary lines between parcels of land, resulting in a single parcel of land.

PERCOLATION TEST OR SOIL BORINGS: Field test conducted and used in judging the suitability of soil for on-site, sub-surface sewer and seepage systems.

PLAN: The map or plat illustrating or describing a subdivision or land development.

PLAN, EXPLORATORY SKETCH: An informal plan indicating salient existing features of a tract and its surroundings and including the general layout of a proposed subdivision or land development.

PLAT: Includes the terms: Map, plan, plot, replat or replot; a map or plan of a tract or parcel of land which is to be, or which has been, subdivided. When used as a verb, "plat" is synonymous with "subdivide."

PLAT, PRELIMINARY: A map of a proposed land subdivision showing the character and proposed layout of the tract in conformance with the regulations set forth in this Ordinance to indicate the suitability of the proposed subdivision of land.

PLAT, RECORD: A final map of all or a portion of a subdivision which, when approved, shall meet all the applicable requirements of this Ordinance and shall be in a form suitable for recording.

(7/17/07) PRIVATE ACCESS EASEMENT: A perpetual easement, not a part of any public road system, which provides access on a continuing basis to any lot or parcel.

PROPERTY: Any tract, lot, parcel or several of the same collected together for the purpose of subdividing.

RESIDENT ENGINEER: The Resident Engineer of the Virginia Department of Transportation assigned to Clarke County, or his designee.

RESUBDIVIDE: To make any change in any dimension of any lot as shown on an approved record plat except in the case of a plat recorded for the purpose of a security release to a lending agency.

ROAD: See Street.

STREET: The principal means of public access to any lot in a subdivision. The term street shall include road, lane, drive, place, avenue, highway, boulevard, or any other thoroughfare for a similar purpose, but shall not include any private access easement. All streets shall be constructed to requirements and specifications of the Virginia Department of Transportation for acceptance into the State Road System.

STREET OR ALLEY, PUBLIC USE OF: The unrestricted use of a specified area or right-of-way for ingress and egress to two or more abutting properties.

STREET, MAJOR: Any existing or future heavily traveled thoroughfare, street, or highway that carries a large volume of through traffic, or anticipated traffic exceeding 500 vehicles per day; any existing State Secondary Road.

STREET, MINOR: A street that is used primarily as a means of public access to the abutting properties with anticipated traffic of less than 500 vehicles per day.

STREET, SERVICE ROAD OR DRIVE: A public right-of-way generally parallel and contiguous to a major highway primarily designated to promote safety by eliminating promiscuous ingress and egress to the right-of-way by providing safe and orderly points of access to the highway.

STREET WIDTH: The total width of the strip of land dedicated or reserved for public travel, including roadway, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and planting strips.

- (2/16/01)SUBDIVIDE: To divide any tract, parcel, or lot of land into two or more parts, with the following exceptions:
  - Boundary Line Adjustments (see Special Regulations, Article 10-D).
- (6/21/05)The use of one of the parcels will be public utility uses and not more than two parcels would result from the division of land.
- (2/20/90)All persons proposing to divide and/or merge land who contend such division is (7/20/93)exempted from the provisions of this Ordinance under subsections (a) or (b), above, (6/21/05)shall submit to the Zoning Administrator a plat of the proposed division, or other documents, plats, or evidence satisfactory to the Zoning Administrator, and if in the opinion of the Zoning Administrator the division is accepted, he shall so certify on said plat or on the deed of conveyance by which the property is to be divided. The Zoning Administrator's certificate shall state that the division is accepted under (a) or (b), above, and shall be signed by the Zoning Administrator. No person shall record a plat

Ordinance or without the Zoning Administrator's certificate as aforesaid.

(10/21/14)d. Administrative Land Divisions

(6/13/89)

SUBDIVIDER: Any person, persons, firm, corporation, partnership, or other entity, and the agent or agents thereof, subdividing or proposing to subdivide land as herein defined.

or conveyance for the division of land without complying with the provisions of this

- (6/21/05)SUBDIVISION: The act or process of subdividing as herein defined.
- (9/18/90)SUBDIVISION, MAJOR: A subdivision meeting any of the following conditions:

b. A lot will be used for commercial or industrial purposes.

(6/21/05)

- a. Three or more lots are proposed, at least three of which are less than 100 acres.
- c. A right of way in the subdivision will be proposed for acceptance into the

- Virginia Department of Transportation's road system.
- d. Public water or public sewerage are proposed to serve any lot.
- e. Homeowners association to be created for this subdivision.

(9/18/90) SUBDIVISION, MINOR: A subdivision containing one or two lots that are:

- a. each less than 100 acres, and
- b. meets none of the conditions for major subdivisions.

SUBSTANDARD DIVISIONS: A division of land not in conformity with this Ordinance may be re-subdivided and redeveloped in whole or in part; but only under the provisions of this Ordinance.

TRACT: A parcel of land for which there exists a separate parcel designation on the Clarke County Real Property Identification Map as of October 17, 1980. Parcels which have been divided by a public road, which is maintained by the Virginia Department of Transportation shall be considered as separate tracts, even though such tracts may be assigned one parcel designation as set forth herein.

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR: The representative of the governing body who has been appointed to serve as the agent of the governing body in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance.

#### 2-C DEFINITION DISPUTES

In case of any dispute over the meaning of a word, phrase or sentence, whether defined herein or not, the Zoning Administrator is hereby authorized to make a definitive determination thereof, being guided in such determination by the purposes and intent of this Ordinance as set forth in Article 1; provided, however, that an appeal may be taken from any such determination as provided in Section 12-B.

#### 3 ADMINISTRATION

#### 3-A ADMINISTRATION BY PLANNING COMMISSION

3-A-1 The Planning Commission is hereby delegated to administer this Ordinance. In so doing, the Commission shall be considered the agent of the Board of Supervisors of Clarke County.

# 3-A-2 (6/21/05) (10/21/14)

The Commission may act through its Zoning Administrator and/or Planning Staff duly appointed as provided in Section 15.2-2217 of the Code of Virginia, to the extent that the Commission finds appropriate for the administration of this Ordinance; provided, however, that no person may act for the Commission in approving, conditionally approving, or disapproving any Preliminary Plat or Record Plat of a major or minor subdivision. The Zoning Administrator shall act for the Commission in approving, conditionally approving, or disapproving any Record Plat of an administrative land division.

3-A-3 Specifically, but not in limitation, the Zoning Administrator shall have authority, in the name of Clarke County, to invoke any legal measures necessary to prevent, restrain, correct or abate any violation or attempted violation of any of the provisions or regulations herein.

# 3-B PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES

The Commission shall perform its duties as regards subdivision and subdividing in accordance with this Ordinance and the Virginia Land Subdivision and Development Act.

# 3-C REGULATIONS

In addition to the requirements herein contained for the platting of subdivisions, the Commission may establish such administrative rules and procedures, as it deems necessary for the proper administration of this Ordinance.

#### 3-D OBTAINING OPINIONS

In the performance of its duties, the Commission may call for the recommendations, either verbal or written, from other departments of the County or State government or other agencies or individuals that the Commission believes may be of service.

#### 3-E SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN TWO JURISDICTIONS

3-E-1 (1/16/01)

Should a single tract of land be located partly in the County and partly in an area subject to the subdivision jurisdiction of the Town of Berryville, and it is proposed to divide the property along the line demarcating Town and County jurisdiction, the locality that has subdivision jurisdiction over the greater area of the tract shall have jurisdiction over such subdivision of the tract

3-E-2 Should a single parcel of land be located partly in the County and partly in the Town of Boyce, and it is proposed to divide the property along the line demarcating Town and County jurisdiction, the locality in which the greater area of the parcel is located shall have jurisdiction over such subdivision of the parcel.

#### 4 PROCEDURE FOR SUBDIVISION APPROVAL

# 4-A PRE APPLICATION CONFERENCE REQUIREMENT

(11/18/14)

(11/18/14)

No less than seven (7) days prior to filing an application, a pre-application conference shall be held between the Applicant and the Zoning Administrator. The Applicant shall provide for review a concept or draft subdivision plat showing the subject property, general lot layout, and the main elements to be proposed as a part of the application. The draft plat and any additional materials provided by the Applicant shall be retained by the Zoning Administrator as the initial public record for the application.

#### 4-B APPLICATION

(12/17/91) (11/18/14)

A complete application for subdivision approval shall contain at least the following:

- 4-B-1 The applicant's name and address, and, where the applicant is not an individual, the form, date, and place of formation of the applicant.
- 4-B-2 Environmental Inventory and Impact Statement.
- 4-B-3 Consumer Disclosure Statement.
- 4-B-4 Preliminary Plat.
  - 4-B-4-a (3/20/90) (10/18/11)

Twenty-one blue line or black line prints (fifteen copies on 11 by 17 inch paper and six copies on 24 by 36 inch paper), a digital or electronic copy of the plat (Portable Document Format (PDF), and digital files (as described below) shall be submitted. For digital data standard transfer media will be accepted including CD, DVD, email or ftp.

1. The digital files shall be provided in one of the following formats:

DXF (AutoCAD ASCII Drawing Exchange File)

ArcGIS shapefile

ArcGis Personal geodatabase

2. The digital files shall provide individual layers for the following features:

Site boundary

Parcel lot lines

Lot numbers

Tax Map numbers

Streets and Roads

Road Right of Ways

Road names

**Building footprints** 

**Utilities and Lines** 

Easements

3. The digital files shall be submitted in the following projection:

Projected Coordinate System: NAD 1983 State Plane Virginia North

FIPS 4501 Feet

Projection: Lambert Conformal Conic

 Central Meridian:
 -78.50000000

 Standard Parallel:
 1:38.03333333

 Standard Parallel:
 2:39.20000000

 Latitude Of Origin:
 37.66666667

 Linear Unit:
 Foot US

Geographic Coordinate System: GCS North American 1983
Datum: D North American 1983

Prime Meridian: Greenwich Angular Unit: Degree

A minimum of two property corners shall be identified by xy coordinates in order to "tie to" existing GIS layers.

A Statement indicating the source of the northern meridian and amount of declination used.

The Zoning Administrator may modify the number of paper prints or digital copies and may modify the format and features for such digital information based on unique circumstances.

- 4-B-4-b The preliminary plat and all required supporting documents submitted shall conform in all ways with the requirements set forth in Article 7, Section B of this Ordinance.
- 4-B-5 Payment of Fee.
- 4-B-6 Plans for Water and Sewerage Facilities.
  - 4-B-6-a Report from the Clarke County Health Department evidencing suitability of soils on any lot less than 40 acres, for individual on-site septic systems with subsurface disposal.
  - 4-B-6-b If public water and/or sewerage is to be provided by a town or by the Clarke County Sanitary Authority, a certificate from an authorized agent or the governing body thereof. Said certificate may require that certain specifications be met as a condition to furnishing or operating such public water and/or sewerage.
  - 4-B-6-c If privately owned and operated central water and/or sewerage facilities are to be provided, a certificate from the Clarke County Health Department evidencing conformance of plans for such facilities with all applicable requirements and specifications of the Virginia Department of Health.
  - 4-B-6-d If central water and/or sewerage facilities are to be accepted by a town or by the Clarke County Sanitary Authority for purposes of operation and maintenance of such facilities, for public use, a certificate from the Clarke County Health Department evidencing conformance of plans for such facilities with all applicable requirements and specifications of the Virginia Department of Health, as well as a certificate from an authorized agent or the governing body of the town or of the Sanitary Authority evidencing agreement to accept such facilities and setting forth all conditions of the agreement for such acceptance.
- 4-B-7 Certificate signed by the Resident Engineer of the Virginia Department of Transportation evidencing approval of the proposed design and construction of all streets. Said certificate shall also verify that all streets will be accepted into the state highway system for maintenance at such time that criteria for establishment of genuine public need is satisfied, provided such streets are constructed in accordance with the approved plans and profiles and are in good condition.

#### 4-C ACCEPTANCE FOR FILING

- 4-C-1 The Zoning Administrator may require such other information to be submitted as the Zoning Administrator deems necessary for a proper and intelligent consideration of the application. The Zoning Administrator may establish regular filing deadlines to ensure that there is sufficient time to evaluate the application prior to the Planning Commission's initial review.
- 4-C-2 The Zoning Administrator shall determine when the application is complete. After receipt of a complete application, the Zoning Administrator shall refer the matter to the Planning Commission for initial review at its next regular meeting.
- 4-C-3 The Zoning Administrator shall forward copies of the plat for all applicable agencies and officials to provide written comments and recommendations. After receiving such comments and recommendations, the Zoning Administrator shall prepare a report for the Planning Commission.
- 4-C-4 The subdivision plat and accompanying materials shall be available for public review in the County Planning Department.
- 4-C-5 In addition to the fee set by the Board of Supervisors, the Planning Commission may require the Applicant to bear the costs of any extraordinary professional services employed by the Planning Commission in reviewing the subdivision plat.

#### 4-D PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

The Preliminary Plat and other documents comprising an application shall be available for public viewing in an office designated by the Zoning Administrator.

#### 4-E REPORT TO PLANNING COMMISSION

4-E-1 Copies of the Preliminary Plat shall be distributed to all members of the Planning Commission and to any or all of the following agencies that may exist, and any other agencies, as deemed necessary by the Zoning Administrator:

Clarke County Engineer

Clarke County Sanitary Authority

Clarke County Soil Scientist

Clarke County Health Department

Clarke County Department of Parks and Recreation

Lord Fairfax Soil and Water Conservation District,

Virginia Department of Transportation

District Agent Soil Conservation Service

Towns bordering on, or close to, the proposed subdivisions.

4-E-2 After the Zoning Administrator has received review comments from the agencies and officials to which the Preliminary Plat has been referred, a report shall be prepared and submitted to the Planning Commission.

#### 4-F PUBLIC HEARING

4-F-1-a (11/16/93) (8/19/03) (11/18/14) A public hearing shall be required for any proposed major subdivision, and the Planning Commission shall give notice of a public hearing in accordance with Section 4-F-2 of this ordinance. No public hearing shall be required for a minor subdivision.

4-F-1-b
(11/18/14)

Deadlines for Applicant Submission of Materials Prior to Public Hearing. Following the filing of a complete application, the Applicant shall provide any new or revised materials demonstrating compliance with required technical elements no less than 14 days prior to the first Public Hearing and no less than 10 days prior to any continued Public Hearing. Required technical elements include any regulations governing site development such as lot dimensions and plat requirements. Any new or revised materials provided after the deadlines reference above shall not be considered by the Commission at the scheduled meeting.

4-F-2 (11/16/93)

Public hearings held by the Planning Commission shall be held in accordance with Section 15.2-2204 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended. In accordance with Section 15.2-2206 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, the subdivision applicant shall be responsible for providing the notice required in Section 4-F-2-(b); and shall bear the cost of said notice. The applicant shall be required to supply the names of those persons that were required to be notified and certify that said notice was sent. The certification of notice and a listing of the persons to whom notice was sent shall be supplied by the applicant to the zoning administrator at least five days prior to the public hearing. Any person entitled to notice may waive such right in writing. In accordance with applicable regulations, before such hearings, the following is required:

4-F-2-a (11/16/93) (8/19/03)

Notice of the intended action shall be published once a week for two successive weeks in some newspaper publishing or having general circulation in Clarke County. Such notice shall specify the time and place of the hearing at which persons affected may appear and present their views, not less than five days nor more than twenty-one days after the second advertisement shall appear in such newspaper.

4-F-2-b (11/16/93) Written notice shall be given at least five days before the hearing to the owners (as shown on the current real estate assessment records of Clarke County) of all abutting property and property immediately across the street or road from the property to be subdivided. If such notice is sent by an applicant other than a representative of the Planning Commission, it shall be sent by registered or certified mail. If such notice is sent by a representative of the Commission, the notice may be sent first class mail; provided that the representative make affidavit that such mailings have been made and file such affidavit with the records of the case.

4-F-2-c (11/16/93) (8/19/03)

At least 15 days preceding the hearing, the applicant shall erect on the parcel to be subdivided, a sign or signs, indicating the nature of the request and the body reviewing the request. If the public hearing concerns more than five parcels, the number and location of signs to be posted shall be determined by the Zoning Administrator. The Zoning Administrator may require a reasonable deposit for each sign furnished to the applicant. The sign shall be erected by the applicant within 10 feet of whatever boundary line of such land abuts a public road and shall be so placed as to be clearly visible from the road with the bottom of the sign not less than one foot above the ground. Such sign shall not be erected in the public right-of-way. If more than one such road abuts the property, or if no public road abuts thereon, then the number and location of signs shall be determined by the Zoning Administrator. If no public road abuts thereon, then signs shall be placed in the

same manner as above on at least one (or as many as is deemed necessary by the Zoning Administrator) boundary of the property abutting land not owned by the applicant. Any sign erected as required by this Section shall be maintained at all times by the applicant up to the time of the hearing. It shall be unlawful for any person, except the applicant or the Zoning Administrator, or authorized agent of either, to remove or tamper with a required sign during the period it is required to be maintained under this Section. All signs erected under this Section shall be removed by the applicant within 15 days following the public hearing for which it was erected. Failure to return the undamaged sign or signs within the prescribed time period will result in the forfeiture of the sign deposit.

- 4-F-2-d At the hearing, the applicant shall submit an affidavit that he/she has fully complied with the requirements of this Section as to provision of written notice and posting of the property.
- 4-F-2-e If any hearing is continued, to an unspecified date, written notice shall be re-mailed for the notification of the date of continuation to those parties that received notice of the previous hearing, in accordance with Sections 4-F-2-(b) and 4-F-2-(d) of this Ordinance.
- 4-F-2-f Deferral of Application.

(11/18/14) An Applicant may request that consideration of a subdivision application at a public hearing be deferred by submitting a written request for deferral to the Zoning Administrator.

- 1. If the deferral request is provided to the Zoning Administrator prior to finalizing the Public Hearing advertisement for consideration by the Planning Commission, the Zoning Administrator shall determine whether to grant the deferral request. A request for deferral shall be approved only for good cause. If such request is approved by the Zoning Administrator, the application shall be advance to the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission.
- 2. If the deferral request is provided after finalizing the Public Hearing advertisement, the request for deferral shall be placed on the public hearing agenda on the date the application is to be considered and acted upon by the body. The body may approve the request for deferral for good cause. The Applicant shall be responsible for a re-advertising fee which shall be paid in full, prior to the application being placed on an upcoming public meeting agenda.
- 4-G ACTION ON PRELIMINARY PLAT

(6/10/97)

- 4-G-1 Within 60 days of the date of the meeting of the Planning Commission at which a complete application is submitted to the Commission, the Commission shall approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove the Preliminary Plat.
- 4-G-2 The Commission shall approve the Preliminary Plat provided that the Commission finds the Plat and all required supporting documents meet the requirements of this Ordinance, any other applicable ordinances and regulatory requirements, including the requirements of Section 4-G-2-(b), below. Otherwise, the Commission shall disapprove the Preliminary Plat.
  - 4-G-2-a In making its determination, the Commission shall consider, where applicable, the Comprehensive Plan, the Zoning Ordinance, the Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance, the Well and Septic Ordinance, the Environmental Inventory and Impact Statement, the

Consumer Disclosure Statement, Virginia Department of Transportation requirements and regulations, agency comments pursuant to Section 4-E of this Ordinance, and any other applicable statutes, ordinances, or regulations.

- 4-G-2-b In order to approve the Preliminary Plat, the Commission, in considering the matters set forth in Section 4-G-2-(a), above, shall determine, without limitation, that the subdivision as set forth in the Preliminary Plat:
  - 1. Will not cause unreasonable soil erosion or reduction in the capacity of the land or water so that a dangerous or unhealthy condition may result.
  - Will not cause unreasonable highway congestion or unsafe conditions with respect to the use of the highways existing or proposed, and has adequate road access. In making this determination, it shall consider the width and grade stability, and whether or not the increase in traffic volume that would be generated by the proposed subdivision would create a hazard to public safety or seriously aggravate an already hazardous condition.
  - 3. Complies with all State stormwater management regulations.
  - 4. Will not have an undue adverse effect on existing or proposed septic systems or water supply systems in adjacent areas.
  - 5. Will not have an undue adverse impact on the environment as described in Section 5 of this Ordinance.
- 4-G-3 If the Commission disapproves or conditionally approves the Preliminary Plat, the reasons for such action shall be stated in writing.
  - 4-G-3-a If the Commission conditionally approves the Preliminary Plat, the conditions shall be set (9/18/90) forth in writing.
  - 4-G-3-b If the Commission disapproves the Preliminary Plat, the reasons for the disapproval shall be set forth in writing, and if there are specific corrections or modifications which will permit approval of the Preliminary Plat, such corrections or modifications shall be set forth in writing.
- 4-G-4 Approval of the Preliminary Plat may be conditioned upon, among other things, the subdivider including in the Deed of Dedication of the property, and/or in the deed of conveyance for each lot within the subdivision, restrictive covenants required by this Ordinance and agreed to by the subdivider in hearings before the Commission. In the event any lot or lots within a proposed subdivision are to be served by one or more private access easements, restrictive covenants as required by Section 7-B-5-(c) of this Ordinance shall be included in the Deed of Dedication of the property and in the deed of conveyance for each lot so served.
- 4-G-5 Additional time may be granted the applicant for submission of revised plans, or the Commission may require additional time for review of a Preliminary Plat stating its reasons for doing so in writing.
- 4-G-6 Conditional approval by the Commission shall not obligate the Commission to approve the Record Plat.
- 4-G-7 Term of Validity of Preliminary Plats
  4-G-7-a Once a preliminary subdivision plat is approved, it shall be valid for a period of five years,
- 4-G-7-a Once a preliminary subdivision plat is approved, it shall be valid for a period of five years provided the subdivider (i) submits a final subdivision plat for all or a portion of the

property within one year of such approval, and (ii) thereafter diligently pursues approval of the final subdivision plat. "Diligent pursuit of approval" means that the subdivider has incurred extensive obligations or substantial expenses relating to the submitted final subdivision plat or modifications thereto. However, no sooner than three years following such preliminary subdivision plat approval, and upon 90 days' written notice by certified mail to the subdivider, the Zoning Administrator may revoke such approval upon a specific finding of facts that the subdivider has not diligently pursued approval of the final subdivision plat.

- 4-G-7-b (11/16/10)
- Once an approved final subdivision plat for all or a portion of the property is recorded, the underlying preliminary plat shall remain valid for a period of five years from the date of the latest recorded plat of subdivision for the property. The five-year period of validity shall extend from the date of the last recorded plat.
- 4-G-8 No property shall be transferred or offered for sale, nor shall a permit to build be issued, on the basis of an approved Preliminary Plat.
- 4-G-9 The Commission, upon being requested to do so by the applicant, and upon finding that the plan submitted conforms to the requirements of this Ordinance for a Record Plat, and upon finding that all necessary supporting documents have been filed, may act upon the plat submitted as a Preliminary Plat and as a Record Plat, in accordance with the criteria provided in this Article for actions on the Preliminary and Record Plat.

#### 4-H SUBMISSION OF PLANS AND PROFILES

- 4-H-1 The following items shall, when necessary, be submitted to the Commission after final approval of the Preliminary Plat and before submission of the Record Plat:
  - 4-H-1-a Five copies of the complete Construction Plans and Profiles, including storm sewer design computations and storm water inlet computations. Where applicable, a copy of the permit or approval letter from the State stormwater management program authority shall be provided as a condition of record plat approval.
  - 4-H-1-b Five copies of the Construction Specifications and Plans for structures such as pedestrian underpasses or overpasses, parking areas, drainage systems and/or structures, or any special structures or systems the Planning Commission may decide warrant individual engineering review.
  - 4-H-1-c Five copies of Traffic Control Plan, including all signs, signals, street signs or other devices for traffic control.
- 4-H-2 Copies of the above items shall be distributed by the Commission to the Virginia Department of Highways and Transportation or any other agency deemed necessary for review of said documents.
- 4-H-3 No Record Plat shall be accepted for review by the Planning Commission until all the aforementioned items have been reviewed and approved by the appropriate authorities.
- 4-I SUBMISSION OF RECORD PLAT
- 4-I-1 After approval of the Preliminary Plat, paper copies, a digital or electronic copy of the plat (Portable Document Format (PDF), and digital files (See section 4-B-4-(a) 1 thru 4) of the

(3/20/90) (10/18/11) Record Plat shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator not less than 15 days prior to the Commission meeting at which consideration thereon is desired.

- 1. A total of twenty-one paper copies shall be submitted, fifteen copies on 11 by 15 inch paper and six copies on 18 by 24 inch paper. These six copies shall evidence original signatures for all required certificates and approvals.
- 2. For digital data standard transfer media will be accepted including CD, DVD, email or ftp.

The Zoning Administrator may modify the number of paper prints or digital copies and may modify the format and features for such digital information based on unique circumstances.

4-I-2 Upon receipt of the Record Plats and all documents and requirements as specified in Article 7 of this Ordinance, the Zoning Administrator shall determine that the Record Plat and documents comply with all applicable rules and regulations, all applicable decisions of the Commission, and all conditions imposed at the time of conditional approval, if any, of the Preliminary Plat.

# 4-J ACTION ON RECORD PLAT

- 4-J-1 Within 60 days of the date of the meeting of the Planning Commission at which the Record Plat and all other required items are submitted to the Commission, the Commission shall approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove said Record Plat.
- 4-J-2 The Commission shall approve the Record Plat, provided:
  - 4-J-2-a The Commission finds that the Record Plat is substantially in accordance with the approved Preliminary Plat and the requirements and provisions of this Ordinance, and that all supporting documents and other items required by this Ordinance and/or the Commission are satisfactory;
  - 4-J-2-b The Commission finds that all certificates and approvals by other public officials and the performance bond, check, or other acceptable surety required by Clarke County and/or other political subdivisions and public agencies are adequate; and
- 4-J-3

  If the Commission disapproves the Record Plat, the specific reasons for disapproval shall be provided in writing, either in a separate document or on the Record Plat itself. The reasons for disapproval shall identify the deficiencies in the plat that caused the disapproval by reference to specific duly adopted ordinances, regulations, or policies, and shall identify, to the greatest extent possible, modifications or corrections that would permit approval of the plat.
- 4-J-4 If the Commission conditionally approves the Record Plat, the conditions shall be set forth in writing.

#### 4-K RECORDATION OF PLATS

(11/16/10) **4-K-1** 

Any owner or proprietor of any tract of land within Clarke County, Virginia, who subdivides the same as herein provided, shall cause a plat of such subdivision to be made in accordance with the regulations set forth in this Ordinance and in the Virginia Land Subdivision and Development Act, and shall further cause a copy of said plat evidencing approval as required herein and a copy of a Deed of Dedication, as may be required herein, to be recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Clarke County, Virginia.

- 4-K-2 No subdivision plat shall be recorded unless and until it shall have been submitted to and approved by the Planning Commission of Clarke County as herein provided and is in full accordance with the regulations set forth in this Ordinance.
- 4-K-3 No subdivision plat shall be recorded unless all the monuments shown and described on the Record Plat are in place as evidenced by the certificate of a licensed surveyor endorsed on said Plat.
- 4-K-4 A Record Plat shall become null and void if it is not submitted to the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Clarke County for recordation within six months from the date evidencing approval by the Planning Commission. The Commission may approve a longer period before recordation is required. The owner of the property being subdivided must submit a written request to the Zoning Administrator for such a longer period within six months of the date of the Commission's original approval. In any case where construction of facilities to be dedicated for public use has commenced pursuant to an approved plan or permit with surety approved by Planning Commission, or where the developer has furnished surety to the Planning Commission by certified check, cash escrow, bond, or letter of credit in the amount of the estimated cost of construction of such facilities, the time for plat recordation shall be extended to one year after final approval or to the time limit specified in the surety agreement approved by the Planning Commission, whichever is greater.
- 4-K-5 Recordation of the Record Plat of a subdivision shall not be deemed to be the acceptance by the County of any street or road or other public place shown on the plat for maintenance, repair or operation thereof.

#### 4-L BURDEN OF PROOF

The burden of proof shall be on the applicant to show that the subdivision and the plats submitted meet the requirements of this Ordinance, including the provisions of Sections 4-G-2 and 4-J-2.

# 4-M ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DIVISIONS

(10/21/14)

- 1. If one or more of the parcels resulting from an administrative land division are to be served by a private access easement, the private access easement shall comply with all applicable design requirements set forth in §8-J
- 2. Utility installation on parcels resulting from an administrative land division shall comply with all applicable design requirements set for in §8-G. The Zoning Administrator shall have the authority to act on behalf of the Planning Commission in applying §8-G-1 and §8-G-3.

# 4-N APPLICATIONS FOR SUBDIVISIONS IN THE FORESTAL-OPEN SPACE-CONSERVATION (FOC) DISTRICT

(2/16/16)

- 1. <u>Applicability</u>. To assure compliance with the provisions of §3-A-2-f of the Zoning Ordinance, and to assure that development on subdivision lots in the FOC District result in the least practicable amount of tree and vegetation clearing and in the preservation of the integrity of sensitive slopes, applications for subdivisions in the FOC District, in addition to meeting other requirements of this Article 4, shall meet the requirements of §4N of this Article. Any amendments to approved major or minor subdivision plats after adoption of this Section 4N shall comply with the requirements of this section.
- 2. <u>Plat requirements</u>. Preliminary and final plats for subdivisions in the FOC District shall include the following, in addition to the other requirements of this Article.
  - a. Topography and elevation.
  - b. Slippage soils which are identified as soil type 54C Udorthents in the "Soil Survey of Clarke County" (1982).
  - c. Highly erodible soils which are defined as soil types 2C, 3D, 5C, 6C, 7D, 8D, 9D, 11B, 12D, 12E, 13D, 14C, 17B, 19D, 20D, 22C, 22D, 25B, 26B, 26C, 27B, 28C, 29C, 38C, 39C, 39D2, 41C, 42C, 43C, 47C, and 57D2, as identified in the "Soil Survey of Clarke County (1982)".
  - d. Slope categories of 7-15%, 15-25%, and greater than 25%.
  - e. Existing woody vegetation.
  - f. Location of intermittent and perennial streams and other similar features.
  - g. For each proposed lot, the following shall be shown:
    - (1) Clearing area dimensions for proposed building site(s)
    - (2) Location and dimensions of proposed building envelope(s), drainfield site(s), and reserve area site(s)
    - (3) Location and dimensions of proposed access and utility easements
    - (4) Location and dimensions of no clear areas consisting of required vegetated perimeter buffers, tree preservation areas, critical root zones, and highly erodible soils/slippage soils.
  - h. Required plat notes. The plat shall include the following required notes in addition to any notes required by the Zoning Administrator or Planning Commission:
    - (1) NOTICE OF DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

This subdivision is subject to the buffering and preservation requirements depicted herein. No land disturbance, construction, or clearing shall take place within the delineated buffering and preservation areas without prior inspection and authorization by the County of Clarke.

# (2) AGRICULTURAL AND FORESTAL ACTIVITIES

Clearing for agricultural activities shall not occur prior to the filing of a Farm Management Plan as required by §3-A-2-f-8 of the Zoning Ordinance. Clearing for conservation forestry activities shall not occur without the filing of a Pre-Harvest Plan as required by §3-C-2-k of the Zoning Ordinance.

3. <u>Development plan narrative</u>. In addition to providing the Environmental Inventory and Impact Statement as required in subsection 5, a development plan narrative shall be provided that includes the following elements. The narrative shall be a binding part of the conservation plat approval and shall be recorded with the record plat.

- a. Description of the type of existing woody vegetation on the subject property including native species to be protected and invasive species and/or dead vegetation to be removed.
- b. Methods to be used to protect no clear areas during site development and construction including a plan for field delineating the no clear areas to guard against future clearing.
- c. In the event that the applicant proposes clearing for agricultural activities, the narrative shall also include a copy of the proposed Conservation Farm Management Plan.
- 4. <u>Building site amendments</u>. Building sites depicted on the record plat may be amended with approval by the Planning Commission. A plat of the lot showing the new proposed building site shall be submitted to the Planning Commission for review and shall meet all requirements set forth in subsection 2.
- 5. <u>Required meetings and inspections.</u> The following meetings and inspections with the Zoning Administrator or their designee shall be conducted:
  - a. <u>Pre-Application Site Visit</u>. In addition to the Pre-Application Conference required in subsection 4-A, a site visit to the subject property shall be conducted. The purpose of the site visit is to ensure that the applicant, the applicant's engineer or surveyor, and County staff understand the subject property's vegetative and topographic characteristics. This site visit shall be conducted any time before or in conjunction with the Pre-Application Conference.
  - b. Pre-Construction Site Inspection. Following approval of the plat by the Planning Commission, the Applicant shall be required to schedule a pre-Construction Site Inspection involving the Zoning Administrator and the County's erosion and sediment control program administrator prior to commencing clearing or land disturbance activities. The purpose of this inspection is to ensure that the developer has marked the no clear areas in the field and has installed protection measures (e.g., safety fencing, permanent delineation markers) in accordance with the approved plat. No building permit or land disturbance permit shall be issued prior to conducting this inspection.
  - c. <u>Post Construction Final Inspection</u>. A final inspection shall be conducted by the Zoning Administrator or designee prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy to ensure that the site has been developed in accordance with the approved plat. In the event that the developer has encroached into no clear areas or otherwise violated the plat requirements, no temporary or permanent certificate of occupancy shall be issued until the violation is remediated according to Zoning Ordinance requirements.
- 6. <u>Field adjustments prohibited</u>. The Zoning Administrator shall not be authorized to grant field adjustments or administrative variances to the approved plat during the construction process. Any request for adjustments shall be processed as an amendment to the previously approved plat for consideration by the Planning Commission.

#### 5 ENVIRONMENTAL INVENTORY AND IMPACT STATEMENT

#### 5-A APPLICATION

(6/21/05) Every application for subdivision of land shall include as a part of said application an Environmental Inventory and Impact Statement; provided, however, that this requirement may be waived or modified in whole or in part, in writing by the Zoning Administrator where he does not deem such statement to be material. The Inventory and Impact Statement shall cover the area of proposed subdivision and areas within 500 feet of the nearest boundary of the proposed subdivision. Included in the Inventory and Impact Statement shall be the following:

5-A-1 INVENTORY: Existing characteristics and conditions of the natural and cultural environment shall be addressed in the Statement, including, but not limited to, the topics listed below. The applicant shall be responsible for contacting the agencies or resources where listed for each topic and provide written documentation to the Planning Commission of existing (or lack of) these characteristics and conditions.

- a. Endangered Species or Habitats
   Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation Division of Natural
   Heritage: A site map shall be provided to DNH in order that they may compare the location to existing data regarding threatened or endangered species or habitat;
- b. Appalachian Trail
  Appalachian Trail Conference/Potomac Appalachian Trail Club: Provide site map
  for evaluation of access, sensitive features, proximity to trail, and other issues
  related to the Appalachian Trail (re: property in the FOC Zoning District);
- c. Historic/Archeological Resources
   Virginia Department of Historic Resources: Identification of archeologic/historic
   resources more than 50 years old, including resources on, or determined eligible for,
   the Virginia Landmarks Register and/or the National Register of Historic Places;
- d. Conservation Easements
  Virginia Outdoors Foundation/Virginia Department of Historic Resources/ Clarke
  County Conservation Easement Authority/Lord Fairfax Soil and Water Conservation
  District: Easements held by the above referenced entities shall be identified;
- e Soils

Clarke County Soil Survey and National Wetlands Inventory: The following soils shall be identified:

Slippage soils -soil type 54C;

Groundwater Recharge Areas -soil types 19D, 20D, 22C, 2D, 49B, 50B; Wetlands -hydric soil types 6B, 6C, 7D, 16B, 23, 24, 54C;

f. Water features

All features shall be shown including springs, intermittent streams, perennial streams, or ponds;

g. Sinkholes

Clarke County Soil Survey and on-site research;

h. Ridgelines

Prominent ridgelines (watershed divides or slopes exceeding 15% over 800 feet elevation) shall be identified;

i. Slopes

Slopes (in categories of 15% up to 25% and 25% and greater) shall be identified;

j. Pollutions Sources

Known pollution sources (including without limitation dump sites, drainfields, buried fuel tanks, solid and liquid disposal sites, etc.) shall be identified;

# k. Large Trees

- Trees or clusters of trees greater than 6 inches in diameter at breast height (DBH) shall be shown in the areas to be cleared; the areas and acreage to be cleared of such trees for construction activities shall also be shown; and
- Manmade Facilities and Activities (Structures, transportation network including
  movement and access, utility networks, waste disposal, barriers, corridors) Any
  conditions existing in adjacent areas of the County which will or may adversely
  affect the use and enjoyment of all or any part of the subdivision.
- 5-A-2 IMPACT: Applicant shall show how the proposed subdivision will impact any items identified in Section 5-A-1, and how that impact will be remediated so as to reduce or eliminate the impact.

# 5-B WHEN REQUIRED

The Commission may require the subdivider to provide an Environmental Inventory and Impact Statement or to provide additional information or amplification with respect to the Statement, whether or not initially considered material by the Zoning Administrator, where the Commission considers such to be material.

#### 6 CONSUMER DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

#### 6-A WHEN REQUIRED

Every application for subdivision of land shall include, as a part of said application, a Consumer Disclosure Statement provided, however, that this requirement may be waived or modified in whole or in part by the Zoning Administrator where he does not deem such Statement to be material. In any event, such Statement, or approved modification thereof, shall be included as a part of all applications for subdivision in which more than three lots are to be served by one or more private access easements. Unless otherwise modified by the Zoning Administrator, the Consumer Disclosure Statement shall include the following:

- 6-A-1 The name and address of each person having a beneficial interest in the land proposed to be subdivided and the extent of such interest.
- 6-A-2 The state of formation and the name and address of the person upon whom legal service may be made, if a corporation, trust, partnership, unincorporated association, or other form or organization has a beneficial interest in said property.
- 6-A-3 A statement of the condition of the title to the land comprising the subdivision, including all encumbrances, deed restrictions, covenants applicable thereto, and including a reference to all deeds or other instruments by which the current owner acquired title to the property.
- 6-A-4 A statement as to how consumers purchasing land in the subdivision will be protected with respect to any encumbrances on the property.
- 6-A-5 (8/17/93) (11/18/03)

A statement of the means of access to the property and to lots within the proposed subdivision from a public road. If such access from a (public road is served by private road, a statement of the terms and provisions for maintenance of such road, including a statement that at no time will the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation accept responsibility for the upgrading and/or maintenance of such road. If any lots within the proposed subdivision are to be served by one or more private access easements, a statement of the terms and provisions setting forth responsibility for construction and maintenance of such easements, including a statement that at no time will the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation accept responsibility for construction, upgrading, or maintenance of such private access easements.

- 6-A-6 A statement of the availability of sewage disposal facilities, water, electricity, gas, telephone, and fire and police protection, with an estimate of the cost of such to consumers purchasing property in the subdivision.
- 6-A-7 A statement of the nature of improvements to be made to the property by the subdivider for the benefit of purchasers, and the estimated schedule for completion of said improvements.
- 6-A-8 Such other information or documents, including financial information, as the Commission or Board may require as being reasonably necessary or appropriate for the protection of consumers.
- 6-A-9 Where appropriate, copies of covenants, contracts, or other writings whereby provision is made for supplying common necessities and maintaining common areas after development is completed.

6-A-10 Representations made in the Consumer Disclosure Statement shall constitute covenants running to the benefit of purchasers in the subdivision and adjacent landowners and shall be enforceable by such persons.

# 6-B ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED

The Commission may require the subdivider to provide a Consumer Disclosure Statement or to provide additional information or amplification with respect to the Statement, whether or not initially considered material by the Zoning Administrator, where the Commission considers such to be material.

#### 6-C RECORDATION

The Consumer Disclosure Statement shall be recorded with and shall be considered part of the subdivision plat. The sellers of property, described by a subdivision plat, shall provide a copy of the Statement to all purchasers.

# 7 DETAILS OF PLAT REQUIREMENTS

| 7-A     | EXPLORATORY SKETCH PLANS   |
|---------|--|
| 7-A-1   | The Exploratory Sketch Plan of a proposed subdivision shall be clearly and legibly drawn to a scale of one inch equals not more than 200 feet.   |
| 7-A-2   | Where the Exploratory Sketch Plan shows the proposed subdivision of only a portion of the subdivider's total property, the proposed subdivision shall be so located and related to the remainder of said property. To prevent undue hardship in the case of extremely large properties, the Zoning Administrator may, based upon existing natural or man-made features, limit the area for which an Exploratory Sketch Plan shall be prepared. |
| 7-A-3   | The Exploratory Sketch Plan shall contain at least the following applicable data, legibly drawn to scale, but not necessarily showing precise dimensions:  |
| 7-A-3-a | Approximate tract boundaries and existing and proposed zoning districts accurately labeled.  |
| 7-A-3-b | North point, scale, and date, including month and year the original drawing was completed, and the month, day, and year the original drawing was revised.  |
| 7-A-3-c | Significant topographic and physical features, such as, but not limited to: Water Courses, Swamps or Marshes, Wooded Areas, Mountainous Areas, Flood Plains, and Natural Swales.   |
| 7-A-3-d | Existing streets, utility and drainage easements within the tract and adjacent to it.  |
| 7-A-3-e | Sketch Vicinity Map showing relationship between the subdivision and surrounding area.   |
| 7-A-3-f | Site data: Acreage in Tract, Average Lot Size, Approximate Number of Lots, and Acreage in Parks and Other Land Usage.  |
| 7-A-3-g | Name and address of owner and/or subdivider and registered civil engineer, certified land surveyor, or land planner, if any, responsible for the preparation of the Exploratory Sketch Plan.   |
| 7-B     | PRELIMINARY PLAT   |
| 7-B-1   | The Preliminary Plat shall be clearly and legibly drawn to a scale of one inch equals not more than 200 feet.  |
| 7-B-2   | The Preliminary Plat shall contain at least the following applicable data:   |
| 7-B-2-a | The scale, north point and date.   |
| 7-B-2-b | The proposed name of the subdivision (the name shall not duplicate nor too closely approximate that of any existing subdivision in this or neighboring counties).  |
| 7-B-2-c | The name, address, and signature of the owner of record, the name and address of the subdivider, and the name and address of the engineer or surveyor preparing the plat.  |

7-B-2-d Number of sheets comprising the plat. 7-В-2-е Magisterial District, County, and State. 7-B-2-f Sources of data used in preparing the plat, including, but not limited to, plats of record and the deed book and page number of the last instrument in the chain of title. Names of all adjoining property owners. 7-B-2-g 7-B-2-h Boundary survey or existing survey of record. 7-B-2-i Zoning Requirements: A notation setting forth the zoning district, the building setback requirements for principal structures from front, side and rear lot lines, the vegetated property buffer in the AOC and FOC Zoning Districts, and the purpose, residential or otherwise, for which the proposed lots are to be used. Such notation shall further set forth reference to an outline of any variance, special exception, special use permit, and/or conditions established pursuant to conditional zoning with respect to the subject property. 7 - B - 3The Preliminary Plat shall show the location of the proposed subdivision by an insert vicinity map drawn to a scale of one inch equals not more than two thousand feet and indicating thereon: 7-B-3-a The boundary lines of the proposed subdivision and of any larger tract of which the subdivision forms a part. All parcels of less than 100 acres resulting from the division of the larger tract are a part of the subdivision. 7-B-3-b All adjoining roads and streets with their numbers and/or names. 7-B-3-c All subdivisions, town boundary lines, and other landmarks, if any, within one mile. The Preliminary Plat shall show the following: 7 - B - 4(8/16/94) Boundary lines and total acreage of the proposed subdivision, and the acreage remaining in 7-B-4-a the original tract, if any. All parcels of less than 100 acres resulting from the division of the original tract are a part of the proposed subdivision. A proposed future subdivision of acreage of 100 acres or more remaining in the original tract, or a proposed future resubdivision of acreage of less than 100 acres from the original tract, shall be shown on the Preliminary Plat by showing the anticipated boundaries of the future subdivision and the anticipated street locations. In subdivisions to be developed in sections, the plat submitted shall comply with provisions of Section 9-D of this Ordinance. 7-B-4-b Location of existing buildings within the subdivision and within 200 feet thereof. 7-B-4-c Location and width of each proposed street, easement, including utilities and drainage easements, parking area, or other public or private right-of-way within and abutting the subdivision. Location and width of all adjoining roads and streets with their names and/or numbers. 7-B-4-d Lots: All proposed lot lines showing dimensions, total number of lots, proposed block and

lot numbers, area of each lot.

- 7-B-4-e The proposed building restriction lines, shown as dashed lines and labeled as such.
- 7-B-4-f All applicable platting requirements of the Virginia Department of Transportation in connection with each proposed street and public right-of-way.
- 7-B-4-g Location and size in acres of land, if any, to be dedicated or reserved for public use, or for the common use of future property owners in the subdivision.
- 7-B-4-h Location and description of all existing monuments.
- 7-B-4-i Utilities, existing and proposed. Appropriate easements for the placement of all proposed utilities underground shall be required pursuant to Section 8-G of this Ordinance.
- 7-B-4-j (8/16/94)

Location of all pertinent natural and historical features and landmarks including:

- 1. Perennial streams and springs, intermittent streams, and other surface water features as identified by the U.S. Geological Survey;
- 2. Sinkholes as identified by the Soil Survey of the U.S. Soil Conservation Service and/or confirmed by on site inspection;
- 3. 100 year flood plain of the Shenandoah River and Opequon Creek as identified by the U.S. Geological Survey and/or U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, or confirmed by on site inspection by a professional engineer;
- 4. Major land cover, including general locations of wooded areas or individual trees, within 100 feet of perennial streams and springs and 50 feet of intermittent streams;
- 5. Being within the square mile block of land identified by Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation as containing rare or endangered plant and animal species;
- 6. Scenic resources adjoining or within 200 feet of the applicant's property: the Shenandoah River, the Opequon Creek, the Appalachian Trail, County and State designated scenic roads, Permanent Open Space/Historic Conservation Easements or the County Agricultural District.
- 7-B-4-k If extensive changes of topography are contemplated, a plan showing the changes proposed.
- Reference to and outline of proposed deed covenants, a copy of which covenants shall accompany the Preliminary Plat. In the event any lot, or lots, are to be served by one or more private access easements, the reference to and outline of proposed deed covenants shall include a statement that such private access easements are not a part of any public road system and that at no time will the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation accept responsibility for the construction, upgrading and/or maintenance of such easements. Before any future request for the acceptance of such easements for maintenance as part of the Secondary System of State Highways, such easement or easements shall be made to comply with the prevailing Subdivision Street Requirements of the Virginia Department of Transportation, or to another standard deemed acceptable by such Department, at no cost to funds administered to it.
- 7-B-4-m Topographic map on a scale of one inch equals not more than two hundred feet, and contour intervals of five feet or less showing all the area covered by the subdivision.

# 7-B-5 Items to Accompany Preliminary Plat

- 7-B-5-a Statement by the subdivider acknowledging that any percolation tests, topographic studies, or other requirements of the Health Official and/or Commission, in addition to and pursuant to Article 10, Section C, will be carried out at the expense of the subdivider.
- 7-B-5-b If it is proposed to dedicate or reserve land (other than for streets) and private access easements for public use, or for the common use of future property owners in the subdivision, a statement by the subdivider to that effect, giving an outline of the terms proposed and acreage involved.
- 7-B-5-c

  (8/17/93)

  If it is proposed that access to any lots will be served by private access easement, a copy of proposed restrictive covenants, which shall set forth the terms and provisions for construction and maintenance of such easements, and which covenants shall further state that such easements are not a part of any public road system and that at no time will the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation accept responsibility for construction, upgrading and/or maintenance of such easements. Prior to any future request for the acceptance of such easements for maintenance as part of the Secondary System of State Highways, such easement or easements shall be made to comply with the prevailing Subdivision Street Requirements of the Virginia Dept. of Transportation, or to another standard deemed acceptable by such Department, at no cost to funds administered by it.

#### 7-C RECORD PLAT

- 7-C-1 The Record Plat shall be prepared by a surveyor or engineer, duly licensed by the Commonwealth of Virginia, who shall endorse upon such plat a certificate signed by him setting forth the source of title of the land subdivided, and the place of record of the last instrument or instruments in the chain of title.
- 7-C-2 The Record Plat shall be in accordance with the approved Preliminary Plat (together with any changes or additions required by the Planning Commission as a condition for its approval).
- 7-C-3 In addition to the requirements of the Preliminary Plat, the Record Plat shall include the following:
  - 7-C-3-a The original tracings shall be legibly and accurately drawn in black india ink with a margin of one-half inch outside ruled borderlines.
  - 7-C-3-b The plat shall be drawn at a scale of one inch equals not more than 100 feet for any subdivision having lots less than three acres in area, or at a scale of one inch equals not more than two hundred feet for any subdivision having lots of three acres or more in area. The Commission may, at its discretion, permit different suitable scales for plats of dedication or other special plats.
  - 7-C-3-c If the subdivision is shown on more than one sheet, the sheet number, total number of sheets and subdivision name shall be shown on each sheet, and match lines shall clearly indicate where the several sheets join.

#### 7-C-3-d

(5/18/93) (12/21/93) (12/19/95) (4/21/98) (03/19/03) (11/18/03) (1/19/10) Water and sewage disposal systems:

- 1. If lots less than 40 acres in size are to be served by an individual onsite water well, the well site for each lot shall show the distance and bearing to one corner of the well from two property corners, and the Record Plat shall indicate Health Department approval of such sites, pursuant to Section 7-C-3-(1)-(7) herein.
- 2. If lots less than 40 acres in size are to be served by an individual onsite subsurface septic systems, the primary and reserve drain field areas for each lot so served shall show the distance and bearing to one corner of the drainfield from two property corners, and the Record Plat shall indicate Health Department approval of such areas, pursuant to Section 7-C-3-(1)-(7) herein.
- 3. The capacity of new drainfield areas shall be shown for each parcel by stating by the maximum number of:
  - a. gallons of effluent per day (daily design flow);
  - b. bedrooms; and
  - c. full-time occupants
- 4. If any lot contains an existing dwelling, the plat shall indicate one of the following:
  - a. Location of an existing approved standard septic system as shown by the County Health Department records and 100% reserve drain field area, or
  - b. Location of a new primary and a 100% reserve drain field area, as shown in a permit, approved by the Health Department, pursuant to Section 7-C-3-(l)-(7) herein. Such location shall be shown by distance and bearing to one corner of the primary drain field and one corner of the reserve drain field from two property corners.
- 5. If any lot contains an existing dwelling, evidence shall be submitted with the proposed record plat showing that any existing septic tank has been installed or pumped within the past five years.
- 7-C-3-e Accurate locations and dimensions of all lot and street lines and center lines of all streets, both within and adjoining the subdivision, together with the names and width of all such streets.
- 7-C-3-f Boundaries of all easements, school sites, parks or other public areas.
- 7-C-3-g Building setback lines shown as dashed lines with dimensions to front property line along each street, and length of setback line within each lot.
- 7-C-3-h All dimensions shown in feet and decimals of a foot to the closest 1/100 of a foot; and all bearings in degrees, minutes and seconds to the nearest 10 seconds.
- 7-C-3-i The data for all curves shall be shown in detail at the curve or in a curve data table containing the following: Radius, delta, arc, tangent, chord and chord bearing. Bearings and distances of corners to the nearest recorded property corners or monuments.
- 7-C-3-j If any land is being dedicated or reserved for streets, easements, parking space, septic drainfield areas, or for public or private use, or for the common use of future property owners of the subdivision, the Record Plat shall so state and indicate which.
- 7-C-3-k The Record Plat shall contain a correct description of the land being subdivided and a statement to the effect that the said subdivision is with the free consent and in accordance

with the desire of the undersigned, executed by the owners or trustees of the property, and shall be duly acknowledged in accordance with Section 15.2-2224 of the Code of Virginia.

- 7-C-3-1 The Record Plat shall provide space, preferably in the lower right hand corner, and contain suitable lettering for:
  - 1. The surveyor's certificate, as to title,
  - 2. The surveyor's certificate, as to monuments,
  - 3. All restrictive covenants, or outline of and reference thereto, in accordance with Section 7-B-4-(1) of this Ordinance,
  - 4. The owner's certificate,
  - 5. Certificate of approval of the Zoning Administrator,
  - 6. Certificate of approval by the Planning Commission, and
  - 7. Certificate of approval signed by the Health Official evidencing conformity with the requirements of the Health Department with respect to individual on-site subsurface septic systems and potable water supply systems, as applicable.
- 7-C-3-m The Record Plat of a proposed subdivision of land in the AOC or FOC zoning districts shall specify which lot or lots contained therein shall carry with them the right to erect or place a single-family detached dwelling unit, as determined by the number of unused dwelling unit rights assigned to the parent tract pursuant to Section 3-D of the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance.
- 7-C-3-n The following statement shall be shown on the Record Plat of property located in the (4/21/98)Agricultural-Open Space-Conservation (AOC) Zoning District: (6/21/05)

#### AGRICULTURAL OPERATIONS NOTICE

This property is in the Agricultural-Open Space-Conservation (AOC) Zoning District. Agriculture is the primary economic activity of this zoning district. Owners, residents, and other users of property in the AOC District may be subjected to inconvenience, discomfort, and the possibility of injury to property and health arising from agricultural operations even though conducted in accordance with best management practices and/or in accordance with existing laws and regulations of the Commonwealth and the County. Such agricultural operations may generate noise, odors, and dust, may involve the operation of machinery, including aircraft, the storage and disposal of manure, and the application of fertilizer, soil amendments, and pesticides. Owners, occupants, and users of land in the AOC district should be prepared to accept such inconveniences or discomfort as a normal and necessary aspect of living in a zoning district in a county with a strong rural character and an active agricultural sector.

7-C-3-o The following statement shall be shown on Record Plats: (11/18/03)

#### FERTILIZERS AND PESTICIDES NOTICE

Before fertilizers and pesticides are used for lawn or landscaping purposes, a soil test should be conducted. The application of such chemicals should be limited due to the potential for groundwater contamination and should not exceed that determined necessary by the soil test.

The following statement shall be shown on the Record Plat of property located in the 7-C-3-p Forestal-Open Space-Conservation (FOC) Zoning District: (6/21/05)

#### **EMERGENCY SERVICES NOTICE**

The rural location and limited access of this property, combined with adverse weather conditions, may delay or totally impede the timely response of emergency service

(6/21/05)

agencies (police, fire, medical) despite their best efforts. The County of Clarke will be held harmless and not be subject to liability claims for damage to property, personal injury, or loss of life under such conditions.

#### FORESTRY OPERATIONS NOTICE

This property is in the Forestal-Open Space-Conservation (FOC) Zoning District. Forestry is the primary economic activity of this zoning district and is necessary for the health and viability of the forest resource itself. Owners, residents, and other users of property in the FOC District may be subjected to inconvenience, discomfort, and the possibility of injury to property and health arising from forestry operations even though conducted in accordance with best management practices and/or in accordance with existing laws and regulations of the Commonwealth and the County. Such forestry operations may generate noise, odors, and dust, and may involve the operation of machinery, including heavy equipment and chain saws. Debris such as treetops and limbs may be left on site at the conclusion of a forestry operation. Owners, occupants, and users of land in the FOC district should be prepared to accept such inconveniences or discomfort as a normal and necessary aspect of living in a zoning district in a county with a strong rural character and an active forestal sector.

- 7-C-4 Documents to Accompany Record Plats
  When delivered to the Zoning Administrator, the Record Plat shall be accompanied by the following documents:
  - 7-C-4-a Certificate signed by the County Treasurer evidencing payment of all applicable taxes.
  - 7-C-4-b If water is to be provided by, or if sewerage facilities are to be connected with, an approved system in a town, or if water and/or sewerage facilities are to be provided by, or under the terms of written agreement with the Clarke County Sanitary Authority, a certificate signed by an authorized official or the governing body of such town or an authorized official of the Sanitary Authority shall also be submitted and, in addition, a certificate stating that the performance bond or other acceptable surety referred to in the following Section 7-C-4-(c) is adequate to insure the installation of such water or sewerage facilities in a manner which will satisfy the requirements of both the County Health Department and the town or Sanitary Authority, as applicable.
  - 7-C-4-c If all improvements required under the provisions of this Ordinance are not completed, a cash bond, or other surety acceptable to the Board of Supervisors, or in lieu thereof, certification from the applicable federal, state or local political subdivision, department, or agency evidencing the acceptance of satisfactory surety as required by Section 11-B.
  - 7-C-4-d Certificate signed by the Resident Engineer that all streets, parking areas, street signs and drainage systems required, if already constructed by the subdivider, are approved as being in conformance with the Record Plat and requirements of this Ordinance; or, if they are not yet constructed, that the surety performance bond or certified check referred to in the preceding Section 7-C-4-(c) is adequate to guarantee satisfactory and acceptable installation thereof within a designated reasonable time.
  - 7-C-4-e For all Private Access Easements longer than 600 feet, complete engineering plans and profiles shall be submitted for approval by the County's engineer. Upon completion of construction shown in such plans and profiles, the applicant shall contact the Zoning Administrator for an inspection to confirm compliance. Approval of compliance shall be

obtained for that portion of the access easement serving a lot before issuance of a building permit on that lot.

- 7-C-4-f Check payable to the Treasurer of Clarke County to cover fees required.
- 7-C-4-g An unexecuted copy of the proposed deed of dedication accompanied by a certificate signed by the subdivider and duly acknowledged before some officer authorized to take acknowledgments of deeds, to the effect that this is a true copy of the proposed deed of dedication which will be presented for recordation. Said deed of dedication shall:
  - 1. Contain a correct description of the land subdivided and state that said subdivision is with the free consent and in accordance with the desire of the undersigned owners, and the undersigned proprietors and trustees, if any.
  - 2. Contain language such that when the deed is recorded, it shall operate to transfer in fee simple to Clarke County or to other applicable political subdivisions, departments, or agencies such portion of the platted premises as on such plat is set apart for public streets, easements, or other public use, and to create a public right of passage over the same, and that all such dedicated rights-of-way are guaranteed and are unrestricted and unencumbered. This provision shall not apply to any private access easement.
  - 3. Contain all protective or restrictive covenants, including those covenants required, pursuant to Section 4-G-4 where the Preliminary Plat has been conditionally approved.
- 7-C-4-h In cases where land or facilities are to be dedicated to, and held in perpetuity by, a homeowner's association, copies of all approved homeowner's association documents shall be submitted and retained in the files of the Commission.
- 7-C-4-i In the event of any subdivision of five or more lots, a copy of approved sedimentation and erosion control measures proposed on advice by a designated agent of the Lord Fairfax Soil and Water Conservation District.

# 8 DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

#### 8-A DESIGN PRINCIPLES

- 8-A-1 The quality of design of a community is dependent on the quality of design of the individual subdivisions that are included in it. Good community design requires the coordination of the efforts of each subdivider and developer of land within the County. Therefore, the design of each subdivision shall be prepared in accordance with the principles and recommendations established by the Comprehensive Plan for land use circulation, community facilities and public services, and in accordance with the following general principles:
  - 8-A-1-a The size of lots and blocks and other areas for residential, commercial, industrial, and public uses shall be designed to provide adequate light, air, open space, landscaping, and off-street parking and loading facilities.
  - 8-A-1-b The arrangements of lots and blocks and the street system shall be designed to protect solar access and to make the most advantageous use of topography and natural physical features. Tree masses and large individual trees shall be preserved, wherever possible and when consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance. Any system of sidewalks and roadways and the lot layout shall be designed to take advantage of the visual qualities of the area.
  - 8-A-1-c
    (4/18/00)
    (6/21/05)
    (6/21/05)
    The arrangement of parcels in the Agricultural Open-Space Conservation and Forestal
    Open-Space Conservation Zoning Districts should be consistent with the design concepts listed below. These concepts are intended as guidelines to be used to preserve the rural character of these zoning districts. These design concepts are primarily intended to guide the location of parcels less than six acres in area, as the primary use of these parcels is residential, but they should also be considered for parcels of any size because of the interrelated nature of parcels and uses. Site specific circumstances may not allow application of all concepts, but, to the extent practical, these concepts should be followed when siting proposed parcels:
    - 1. Parcels should not be arranged in a row along public roads;
    - 2. Parcels should not be located as individual "islands" in the middle of larger parcels to avoid hindering the use of a field for agricultural purposes;
    - 3. Parcels should not be located immediately adjacent to property under permanent open space easement;
    - 4. Parcels should not be located so that the most likely house location is on the top of an exposed or prominent ridge or hill;
    - 5. Parcels should be located in or adjacent to wooded areas;
    - 6. Parcel boundaries should follow natural features, fence lines, or hedgerows; and
    - 7. Parcels should be clustered.
    - 8. Parcels should be located to minimize road length and maximize ease of emergency access, particularly in areas of steep slopes, and
    - 9. Large residual tracts should contain areas of steeper slopes and other environmentally sensitive features.

#### 8-B LOTS AND BUILDING AREAS

8-B-1 The lot area, width, depth, shape and orientation and the minimum building setback lines shall be appropriate for the location of the subdivision, for the type of development and use contemplated, in accordance with the lot arrangement, design and shape, and shall be such that

all lots provide satisfactory and desirable sites for home or buildings, recognizing natural terrain and conforming to this Ordinance. Lots of one acre or less shall not be stacked off of public rights of way, so that the front yards for homes are not located adjacent to the back yards of other homes. All lot sizes shall conform to the Zoning Ordinance in effect in Clarke County at the time of filing of a Preliminary Plat. Lots shall not contain peculiarly shaped elongations, solely to meet lot size or frontage requirements, which would be unusable for normal purposes.

- 8-B-2 Except where otherwise specifically provided for in this Ordinance or the Zoning Ordinance, all lots shall front on a public street, and the side lot lines shall be approximately at right angles, or radial to the street line.
- 8-B-3 Corner lots shall have a width sufficient to conform to required building setback lines and Zoning Ordinance requirements on both streets, and to provide adequate building sites.
- 8-B-4 In the case of lots for residential purposes, the building setback line shall conform to the requirements of the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance, except that the Commission may require a greater setback if the Commission finds that health and/or safety conditions make a greater setback necessary.
- 8-B-5 In the case of lots for commercial, industrial, or non-residential use, the lot area, width, depth, shape, and orientation, and the minimum building setback lines, shall be appropriate for the location of the subdivision and for the type of development and use contemplated, shall be in accordance with the requirements of any existing Zoning or other applicable ordinance, and shall be adequate to provide for the service and parking facilities required by the type of use and development contemplated.
- 8-B-6 Double frontage or reversed frontage lots should be avoided except where they are deemed necessary by the Planning Commission to provide for the separation of residential development from traffic arteries or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation. A planting screen easement of at least ten feet shall be provided along the portion of such lots abutting such a traffic artery or other use where screening is required. There shall be no right of access across a planting screen easement, provided that the plans for such planting screens or fences shall be submitted for approval with the Record Plat.
- 8-B-7 All remnants or out lots, below the minimum size permitted, remaining after subdividing a tract, must be added to adjacent lots or common open space rather than remain as unbuildable or peculiarly shaped parcels not in keeping with the intent of this Ordinance.

### 8-C STREETS

- 8-C-1 The arrangement, character, extent, width, grade, and location of all streets and roads shall conform to the Clarke County Comprehensive Plan and shall be designed and constructed in accordance with Virginia Department of Transportation specifications. The Planning Commission shall have the right of review and approval, or disapproval, or the arrangement, character, extent and location of proposed streets within a subdivision.
- When a major subdivision abuts one side of any public street that is already in the state highway system, the subdivider shall be required to dedicate one-half of the right-of-way necessary to make said street conform to Virginia Department of Transportation or County criteria. In addition, the subdivider may be required to dedicate the full right-of-way necessary to make horizontal and vertical adjustments to said street.

- 8-C-3 Local residential streets shall be designed so as not to offer direct routes to through traffic.
- 8-C-4 Streets shall connect with existing streets and shall provide access to possible adjoining subdivisions as required by the Commission.
- 8-C-5 Names of new streets shall not duplicate or be confused with names of existing streets unless the new street is a continuation of, or in alignment with, an existing or platted street, in which case the name shall be the same. Street names shall be subject to approval of the Planning Commission.
- 8-C-6 Streets shall be so designed as to provide adequate drainage and drainage facilities and to have geometric design in compliance with the requirements of the Virginia Department of Transportation. Curb and gutter (CG-6 or approved equivalent) shall be required on all new public streets in the Highway Commercial (CH) Zoning District. Upon recommendation from the Virginia Department of Transportation, the Administrative Body may waive the requirement for curb and gutter when in keeping with existing conditions on adjacent sites, and when safe travel and adequate stormwater management can be assured without curb and gutter. In the AOC, FOC, Rural Residential (RR), and Neighborhood Commercial (CN) Zoning Districts curb and guttering shall be not be required unless site conditions warrant.
- 8-C-7 Reserve strips controlling access to streets shall be prohibited except in cases of limited access roads.
- 8-C-8 Whenever a proposed subdivision contains or is adjacent to a major thoroughfare, arterial highway, limited access highway or primary highway, the Commission may require provisions to be made for service drives approximately parallel to such right-of-way, reverse frontage with screen planting contained in a non-access reservation along the rear property line, deep lots, or such other treatment as may be necessary for adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic. Except where impractical by reason of topography hardship, the area between the drive and the major thoroughfare or artery shall be sufficient to provide area for scenic planting and screening. The dimension of the area between the service drive and major thoroughfare or arterial shall be determined after due consideration of traffic safety requirements.
- 8-C-9 Cul-de-sacs shall be permitted only with the concurrence of the Planning Commission and the Virginia Department of Transportation, and shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the specifications and requirements of said Department.
- 8-C-10 Street jogs with centerline offsets of less than 225 feet shall be avoided.
- 8-C-11 Street right-of-way width and street sections shall be in accordance with the requirements and specifications of the VDOT, and dedicated as a public road except as specified in section 8-J of this ordinance. Any and all such streets constructed in accord with section 8-J, which by definition will not be constructed to meet the standards necessary for inclusion in the system of state highways, will be privately maintained and will not be eligible for acceptance into the system of the state highways unless improved to current VDOT standards with funds other than those appropriated by the Virginia General Assembly and allocated by the Commonwealth Transportation Board.

- 8-C-12 Vehicular access to other streets or portions of streets from off-street parking and service areas shall be so combined, limited, located, designed, and controlled as to channel traffic from and to such areas conveniently, safely, and in a manner which minimizes marginal traffic friction and promotes free traffic flow on streets without excessive interruption.
- 8-C-13 Streets shall be laid out in such a manner as to intersect as nearly as possible at right angles and no street shall intersect any other street at less than 80 degrees.
- 8-C-14 In order to serve the public convenience and good, the Planning Commission and/or the Board of Supervisors, upon a recommendation of the Commission, and with concurrence of the Resident Engineer, may require standards, specifications and requirements for streets and related provisions for drainage which exceed such minimum standards, specifications and requirements of the Virginia Department of Transportation.

#### 8-D PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION

Subdivisions shall be designed in such a manner as to provide for the safe and convenient movement of pedestrians throughout the subdivision. All plans for pedestrian circulation shall be included in any plans and profiles as required in Article 7 of this Ordinance.

### 8-E COMMON OPEN SPACE

Where the size of a subdivision warrants, the subdivider shall provide such reasonable amount of suitable lands for parks, playgrounds, tot lots, ball fields, hiking trails, picnic areas, natural areas, bike paths, and the like, as the Planning Commission deems necessary to protect the safety, general welfare and shall be permanently reserved and maintained for use by the homeowners of the subdivision by a means acceptable to the Commission.

### 8-F PUBLIC FACILITIES

Where a proposed park, playground, school, public safety facility or other public use shown on the Clarke County Comprehensive Plan is located in whole or part in a subdivision, the Planning Commission may require the dedication or reservation of sites meeting the requirements for schools, parks, public safety facilities and other neighborhood purposes. Public sites shall be made available by a means acceptable and approved by the Commission.

#### 8-G UTILITY EASEMENTS

- 8-G-1 Utilities shall be installed or easements for such utilities shall be provided and delineated on the Record Plat in the location and to the width designated by the Commission after receiving recommendations from the agencies responsible for the installation of same. In no case shall an easement be less than 10 feet in total width.
- 8-G-2 Utility and cable television transmission lines shall be placed underground.

(6/21/05)

- 8-G-3 Where determined appropriate by the Planning Commission, utility easements shall be provided on each side of all rear lot lines, and along side lot lines where necessary for utility installation and maintenance.
- 8-G-4 Public utility installations should be so located as to permit multiple installations within the easements.

8-G-5 Where it is proposed to place public utilities within the rights-of-way shown for public streets on a Record Plat, such utility installations shall be coordinated with the street construction plans and profiles as approved by the Resident Engineer of the Virginia Department of Transportation, and such installation shall be performed in accordance with all requirements of said Department.

## 8-H UNSAFE LAND

As a safety measure for the protection of the health and welfare of the people of Clarke County, the Planning Commission shall reserve the right to disapprove any subdivision that is subject to periodic flooding, is topographically unsuitable, contains extremely poor drainage facilities, unstable soil conditions, man-made conditions such as, but not confined to, unstable fills or slopes, or has other physical impairment to safe development.

## 8-I DRAINAGE

8-I-1 (8/17/10) (01/17/17)

Subdivisions shall be protected from flood hazard and inundation by storm water, springs, and other surface waters. The design and construction of drainage facilities shall be such that all water courses traversing the subdivision and water emanating from outside and/or within the subdivision will be carried through and off the subdivision without creating an adverse drainage condition to roadway, residential sites, or residences to be installed within the tract, and without any injury to roadways, residential sites, residences, structures, farmland, or open space abutting or in the vicinity of the tract. Stormwater Management shall be designed as required by State stormwater management regulations.

## 8-J PRIVATE ACCESS EASEMENTS

(11/19/91) (6/21/05) (7/17/07)

8-J-1 General Regulations

- 8-J-1-a Lots in a proposed subdivision may be served by a Private Access Easement if in compliance with Zoning Ordinance Section 3-C-4. All Private Access Easements shall comply with Section 8-J-2 of this Ordinance.
- 8-J-1-b A proposed subdivision, which includes a Private Access Easement shall comply with all provisions of this Ordinance.
- 8-J-1-c Construction of any Private Access Easement shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Clarke County Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance.
- 8-J-1-d No Private Access Easement approved pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance shall provide thoroughfare to subdivisions of adjoining property, unless such adjoining property is a part of the original tract as it existed on the date of approval of such easement.
- 8-J-1-e
  Before a building permit is issued for a residence, the grading and base shall be completed for that portion of a travel way accessing such a residence. Before a certificate of occupancy is issued for a residence, all construction shall be completed for that portion of a travel way accessing such a residence.

- 8-J-1-f As stated in Zoning Ordinance Section 3-A-2-I, all private driveways longer than 150 feet shall comply with all Private Access Easement travel way standards in section 8-J-2-c below.
- 8-J-1-g The following note shall be added to any subdivision plat showing parcels accessed by a Private Access Easement:

The private access easements in this subdivision do not meet the standards necessary for inclusion in the system of state highways and will not be maintained by the VDOT or Clarke County and are not eligible for rural addition funds or any other funds appropriated by the Virginia General Assembly and allocated by the Commonwealth Transportation Board.

# 8-J-2 Design Standards

8-J-2-a (6/17/03) (6/21/05)

(01/17/17)

All Private Access Easements shall have a minimum width of 30-foot right-of-way, and any additional right of way necessary to include the travel surface and the drainage facilities necessary to carry the 2-year storm event. The maximum right of way width shall be 40 feet with 50 feet allowed for short distances when the Planning Commission determines there are unique site-specific circumstances.

- 8-J-2-b No telescoping, stacking, paralleling, or similar design configuration of Private Access Easements shall be permitted.
- 8-J-2-c
  (6/17/03)
  (6/21/05)
  (7/17/07)
  All Private Access Easements serving three or more parcels shall have travel ways with:

  1. a minimum design speed of 15 miles per hour;
  - 2. an all weather surface (graveled or asphalt)
    - a. minimum gravel road construction (for all travel ways, pull-offs, and turn-arounds) shall consist of a single compacted aggregate base material course of 7 inches;
    - b. minimum asphalt road construction (for all travel ways, pull-offs, and turn-arounds) shall:
      - (1) have insitu CBR tests at 300 foot intervals along the road centerline to verify the CBR value is at least 4. If the CBR test results in a value less than 4, the subgrade must be improved with "soil cement" or other means as recommended by the onsite geotechnical engineer;
      - (2) consist of the following:

a. asphalt surface course:
b. asphalt base course:
c. aggregate base (21B) course:
d. inches
3 inches
4 inches

- 3. a minimum radius of 100 feet for gravel roads and 70 feet for asphalt roads. The radius shall be measured along the centerline of the travel way. The maximum super-elevation of travel ways in such radii shall be 4%;
- 4. the following maximum grades, measured along the centerline of the travel way:
  - a. 4% within 25 feet of a public right of way,
  - b. a vertical curve providing a transition between the above grades in the area between 25 feet and up to 125 feet from a public right of way;
  - c. 8% for any portion of the travel way more than 125 feet from a public right of way, however up to 12% may be allowed for short distances if specifically approved by the Planning Commission based on site-specific circumstances;

- 5. not more than 100 linear feet, measured on the centerline, that crosses pre-development slopes of 25% or greater;
- 6. a minimum stopping sight distance of 65 feet (distance is based on a 3.5 foot height of eye and a 0.2 foot height of object);
- 7. a minimum intersection sight distance of 60 feet (distance is based on a 3.5 foot height of eye and a 4.25 foot height of object);
- 8. a travel way crown with a minimum of 2%;
- 9. a minimum travel way surface width (graveled or paved) of 14 feet and a maximum travel way surface width of 18 feet;
- 10. no obstruction (such as posts, pillars, walls, or fences) erected within 10 feet of the centerline a travel way or within a public right of way.
- 11. a pull-off area(s) not further than 900 feet from a public right of way or other pull-off area to accommodate emergency vehicles;
- 12. a turn around area (either circular or 'T' shaped) at the end of a travel way;
- 13. drainage facilities to allow a 14-foot wide travel way on the roadway during the 2-year storm event.
- 14. a minimum travel way side slope of 3:1 (horizontal: vertical) to the flow line of the ditch or the limit of the easement, however a slope of 2:1 may be approved by the Planning Commission if there are unique site-specific circumstances;
- 15. stormwater management features, including storm drain culverts, shall meet VDOT standards and State stormwater management regulations, if applicable; and
- 16. a minimum 100 foot setback for travel ways and drainage facilities from sinkholes and perennial streams (except for approved stream crossings).

### 9 GENERAL REGULATIONS

## 9-A MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY

There is a mutual responsibility between the subdivider and the County of Clarke to divide the land in such a way as to insure the best general use pattern of the land being subdivided, and to avoid adverse impact on other properties.

## 9-B TRANSFERS, SALES AND PERMITS TO BUILD

No property in a subdivision shall be transferred or offered for sale by reference to, or exhibition of, or by other use of, a plat of a subdivision, nor shall a permit be issued for a structure thereon, until a Record Plat and such subdivision shall have been approved, as provided herein, and such Plat and a Deed of Dedications, as may be required pursuant to Sections 4-G-4 and 7-B-5-(c) herein, have been recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Clarke County, Virginia.

### 9-C SUBDIVISION NOT EXEMPT FROM OTHER LAWS

The creation of a subdivision shall in no way exempt the land included within it from the provisions of zoning or other ordinances or laws.

### 9-D SECTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

9-D-1 (10/17/89) Where a proposed subdivision includes more than one section, the development sequence for all sections must be presented at the time the plat of the first section is submitted. When a property owner intends to apply for multiple subdivisions of his/her property, an Exploratory Sketch Plan of the entire property, pursuant to Section 7-A, shall be presented with the initial subdivision. If such a sketch plan is not submitted, a subsequent subdivision of the property shall not be accepted or considered until 12 months after approval of the initial subdivision.

9-D-2 Where the acreage remaining in the original tract after the platting of the first section is greater than 100 acres, there shall be submitted with the plat of the first section a plat showing the anticipated boundaries of future sections, the anticipated street locations and contours of the land in the future sections, together with a statement of anticipated lot sizes in the future sections.

## 9-E NORMAL REQUIREMENTS AND VARIATIONS

In laying out subdivisions, the requirements of Article 8 and Article 11 shall ordinarily be observed as minimum requirements. However, said requirements may be varied in specific cases if the Commission determines that a peculiar or special situation exists which makes it necessary or desirable to vary one or more of the said requirements, and that any such variation is not in conflict with or, in the case of a more stringent requirement, that such variation is deemed necessary to carry out, protect, or provide for the public welfare or the purpose of this Ordinance. Any such variance and the reasons therefore shall be stated in writing in the minutes of the Commission.

## 9-F DEDICATION OF STREETS

The subdivider shall dedicate to Clarke County or to the Virginia Department of Transportation, for public use, all land required for streets in the subdivision, except land used as a Private Access Easement in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance. Approval of a Record Plat shall not be deemed acceptable by the Board of Supervisors of any street or other public space shown on such plat for repair, maintenance or operation thereof. No public easement or right-of-way shown on any recorded plat of subdivision shall be deemed accepted by Clarke County for public use until such acceptance of proposed dedication shall first have been formally approved by the Board of Supervisors in meeting duly assembled. The Board shall not give such approval until any such easement or right-of-way complies with all requirements of this Ordinance and of the Virginia Department of Transportation, and such other requirements as the Board may impose for public streets, roads and drainage.

### 9-G PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA

Each plat submitted for preliminary or final approval shall be placed on the agenda of the Planning Commission only after fulfilling the appropriate plat and procedural requirements of the Ordinance.

## 9-H PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

- 9-H-1 Whenever a subdivision is developed as a planned development as defined in the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance, the Planning Commission may vary, upon the request of the subdivider, the requirements of this Ordinance in order to allow the subdivider more freedom in the arrangement of streets and lots, but at the same time shall protect the convenience, health, safety, and welfare of the future residents of the subdivision as well as the character of the surrounding property and the general welfare of the entire County.
- 9-H-2 Any such request shall be made in writing to the Planning Commission and will be retained in the permanent file of the Commission.

## 9-I CONFLICTS IN REGULATIONS

Whenever regulations in this Ordinance are different from regulations contained in other Ordinances, the most restrictive regulations shall prevail.

## 10 SPECIAL REGULATIONS

## 10-A CLUSTER SUBDIVISION

- 10-A-1 The purpose of the cluster method of subdivision is to permit an alternative to standard subdivision design that will promote flexibility of layout and variety of type in residential dwellings, without sacrificing existing per acre dwelling densities or changing the character of the neighborhood, and at the same time preserving open spaces of scenic and use value for common enjoyment.
- The use of this optional method of subdivision, and the procedure for plat filing and review, shall be the same as for standard subdivisions, with the following exceptions:
  - 10-A-2-a The use of the cluster method of subdivision shall be subject to the appropriate regulations of the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance pertaining to cluster development in the respective zoning classification.
  - 10-A-2-b A detailed proposal setting forth the post-development utilization of open space areas, including covenants, agreements or other specific documents, showing the ownership of and method of maintenance and utilization of those areas within the subdivision which are declared to be open spaces for common use, must be submitted and approved before Record Plat approval. The proposed method of ownership and maintenance in perpetuity of all common spaces must be acceptable to and approved by the Commission, and must be set forth in the deed of dedication recorded at the time of recordation of the Record Plat.

### 10-B SEPTIC TANKS

- 10-B-1 No subdivision shall be approved by the Commission where individual water and septic tank systems are to be used until written approval has been secured from the Health Official and the primary and reserve drain field areas for each septic system have been shown on the Record Plat. The Health Official or his designee shall determine the suitability of soil for the use of septic tank systems with sub-surface disposal and shall advise the Planning Commission of its findings. The Health Official or his designee may require percolation tests or other methods of soil evaluation in determining the suitability of the soil for sub-surface disposal. Percolation tests and/or other soil evaluation shall be the responsibility of the developer, with supervision by the Health Official.
- 10-B-2 Not withstanding the provisions of Section 10-B-1 above, unless the subdivider has shown that the soil is suitable for individual water and/or septic tank systems and that such systems will not have an adverse effect on existing or proposed water supply and/or sewage disposal systems in adjacent areas, the Commission shall disapprove the subdivision application, or, in the alternative, shall require the proposed subdivision to be served by either, or both a central water and/or central sewer system.

#### 10-C FLOOD PLAINS

10-C-1 The Planning Commission, for the health, safety, and general welfare of the present and future inhabitants of Clarke County, shall control the subdivision for development of any property that lies within a flood plain, in accordance with the following provisions:

## 10-C-2 Floodplain Easement

- 10-C-2-a In a proposed subdivision which includes property within a floodplain along a stream or other watercourse which is to be left in its natural state, the floodplain shall be shown on the plat of the subdivision as a flood plain easement across the lots located in such floodplain.
- 10-C-2-b No use will be permitted in a floodplain easement area which will obstruct the flow of water or alter flood heights in other areas. The floodplain area may be used for utility lines, storm drainage facilities, and such other facilities as are authorized by the Zoning Ordinance, so long as such uses do not obstruct the flow of water or alter flood heights in other areas.
- 10-C-2-c Land within the floodplain easement area may be designated and used as a public park or recreation area, provided it is maintained by a responsible public authority or maintained by a means acceptable to the Planning Commission.
- In determining whether a lot which contains a floodplain easement satisfies the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance with respect to lot size or open space, the area within the floodplain easement may be included if the lot includes a suitable site for a flood-free building (a building in which the lowest floor, including basement, is above the level of a 100 year flood).

## 10-C-3 Floodplain Study

If an area in a proposed subdivision along a river, stream, or other watercourse that is subject to periodic flooding has not had a flood plain specifically delineated by the United States Corps of Engineers or the United States Geological Survey, the subdivider shall be required to show the flood plain on the plat of the property to be subdivided. The limits of such flood plain shall be located by a flood plain study prepared by an engineer, or by such other qualified person or method as approved by the Commission.

## 10-D BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENTS

- (9/17/96)
  (4/21/98)
  (6/16/98)
  The intent of this section is to provide for adjustments of property lines that do not conflict with the intent of this Ordinance and Section 15.2-2275 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended. Boundary line adjustments that would conflict with this intent are subject to subdivision review under provisions of this Ordinance.
- 10-D-1 In the Agricultural-Open Space-Conservation Zoning District, the relocation or altering of property lines is permitted in the following cases:

| 10-D-1-a<br>(3/17/92)<br>(5/18/93)<br>(4/21/98)<br>(11/18/03) | <ol> <li>Boundary Line Adjustments are permitted where a residential lot is increased in size:         <ul> <li>a. up to three acres; or</li> <li>b. so that it becomes an agricultural lot, if the residential lot qualifies for the Land Preservation Special Assessment (land use taxation) and the agricultural lot involved in the adjustment remains an agricultural lot.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Upon application, the Commission may permit boundary line adjustments exceeding the area limitations of Section 10-D-1-a-1-a, above. Such boundary line adjustments shall be approved when it is determined by the Commission that the parent tract is of sufficiently low quality to justify a boundary line adjustment exceeding the area limitations, according to Section 3-A-1-b-(1)-(b) of the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance.</li> </ol> |
|---|--|
| 10-D-1-b<br>(3/17/92)   | Adjustments of boundary lines where a residential lot is decreased in size and an adjoining agricultural lot is increased;   |
| 10-D-1-c  | Adjustments of boundary lines between agricultural lots, provided that no resulting lot is less than 20 acres.   |
| 10-D-1-d<br>(5/18/93)   | Adjustments of boundary lines between adjoining residential lots where the total acreage in the subject lots is not increased;   |
| 10-D-1-e<br>(5/18/93)   | For the purposes of this Section, a residential lot is a tract of under 20 acres with at least one dwelling unit right or existing dwelling; and an agricultural lot is a tract of 20 or more acres.   |
| 10-D-2  | In all other zoning districts, boundary line adjustments are permitted provided such adjustments meet the conditions of Section 15.2-2275 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended.  |
| 10-D-2-a<br>(2/10/08)   | In the Forestal-Open Space-Conservation Zoning District, no required residual parcel, established in accord with Zoning Ordinance Section 3-A-2-b, shall be reduced in area below the requirements established in Zoning Ordinance Section 3-A-2-b.  |
| 10-D-3  | Boundary line adjustments are not permitted under this provision where the boundary line adjustment would alter a property line that is coincident with a zoning district boundary.  |
| 10-D-4<br>(6/21/05)   | See Zoning Ordinance Section 3-D-9, which addresses the reallocating of dwelling unit rights with a boundary line adjustment.  |
| 10-D-5<br>(1/19/10)   | Any existing structure (or structures) and existing or proposed well(s) and on-site sewage disposal system(s) shall be shown on a Boundary Line Adjustment survey plat. Structures shall be identified as to their use and show the physical address of each structure where applicable. All wells and on-site sewage disposal systems shall be verified by the Clarke County Health Department as to location, capacity, type and use and be noted accordingly on such survey plat.   |
| 10-D-6<br>(10/21/14)  | Any boundary line adjustment shall require approval by the Zoning Administrator.   |
| 10-D-7<br>(10/21/14)  | If a lot with an area equal to or greater than forty (40) acres is reduced in size below (40) acres by boundary line adjustment, the resultant lot shall comply with the water and sewage disposal system requirements set forth in §7-C-3-d.  |

Adjustments where a residential lot is increased in size and an agricultural lot is decreased.

10-D-1-a

### 10-E **MERGER** 10-E-1 Any merger of parcels shall require approval by the Zoning Administrator. (11/20/12)10-E-2 A final plat of a merger shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator depicting the boundary (11/20/12)lines that are proposed to be eliminated. A preliminary plat shall not be required for a merger. The merger plat for property in the AOC or FOC zoning districts shall show thereon the 10-E-3 (11/20/12)Dwelling Unit Rights on the merger parcel, which shall comply with the provisions of Section 3-D-8 of the Zoning Ordinance. 10-E-4 The Zoning Administrator shall review the plat for compliance with County ordinances, and (11/20/12)shall approve, disapprove, or approve with modifications. 10-E-5 An approved final plat shall be recorded within six (6) months of approval, and a copy of the (11/20/12)recorded plat shall be returned to the Zoning Administrator. 10-F CERTAIN MERGERS, BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENTS, AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DIVISIONS 10-F-1 Any plat depicting a merger or boundary line adjustment involving a residual lot that was the (10/21/14)subject of an administrative land division within the previous two (2) year period shall require approval by the Planning Commission. 10-F-2 Any plat depicting an administrative land division involving a residual lot that was the subject of a merger or boundary line adjustment within the previous two (2) year period shall require (10/21/14)approval by the Planning Commission. 10-F-3 A final plat showing the merger, boundary line adjustment, or administrative land division shall (10/21/14)be filed with the Zoning Administrator and submitted to the Planning Commission for review. The Commission shall act on the plat within sixty (60) days of the filing date. 10-F-4 The final plat depicting a merger shall meet the requirements of §10-E; the final plat depicting a

boundary line adjustment shall meet the requirements of §10-D; and the final plat depicting an

administrative land division or divisions shall meet the requirement of §4-M except as otherwise

provided herein.

(10/21/14)

### 11 IMPROVEMENTS AND BONDS

## 11-A IMPROVEMENTS

## 11-A-1 Required Improvements

- The Commission shall require that the subdivider make the improvements provided for herein for Record Plat approval. Said improvements shall be installed at the cost of the subdivider and in compliance with the requirements of any or all plans and plats approved by the Planning Commission, Virginia Department of Transportation, Clarke County Sanitary Authority, Clarke County Health Department, or any other applicable state or local agency.
- No subdivider shall commence the construction of any such improvements without first submitting plans and specifications and obtaining the written approval of the Virginia Department of and Transportation, Clarke County Sanitary Authority, Clarke County Health Department, or any other applicable state or local agency.
- 11-A-1-c Any subdivider commencing any construction in violation of this Section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and punishable by fine of not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000). Any person who should knowingly continue construction after the issuance of a STOP WORK Order by the Zoning Administrator, Building Official, or other representative of the County shall be punishable, for each day said construction should continue after issuance of the STOP WORK Order, by a fine of not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000) and/or ten days in jail.

## 11-A-2 Monuments

- 11-A-2-a Monuments shall be placed in the ground at all corners, angles, and points of curvature in the subdivision boundaries, in the right-of-way lines of all streets and other public areas within the subdivision, and at all corners. Said monuments shall be of iron pipe not less than one-half inch nor more than one inch in diameter, and not less than three feet in length.
- 11-A-2-b The top of all monuments shall be set no more than four inches or less than one inch above finished grade of the ground surface at their respective locations. Upon completion of subdivision streets, sewers, water lines, and other required improvements, the subdivider shall make certain that all required monuments are clearly visible for inspection and use.

# 11-A-3 Street Improvements

The subdivider of any subdivision shall lay out, grade, construct, and otherwise improve all streets that are designed on the approved Record Plat, or that directly serve the subdivision, in accordance with specifications of the Virginia Department of Transportation, or if more stringent, in accordance with the specifications established by the Planning Commission and/or the Board of Supervisors in conjunction with approval of the Record Plat. Furthermore, the subdivider shall maintain such streets to the standards of the Department of Transportation until such time that they are accepted into the State Road System for maintenance purposes.

11-A-3-a (8/17/93)

Streets situated on private access easements will not be maintained at public expense by either the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation, neither of which will accept responsibility for the construction, maintenance, reconstruction or improvement of such streets. Maintenance of such streets shall be the responsibility of each lot owner provided access by such easement.

Before such streets will be considered for addition and maintenance as part of the Secondary System of State Highways, such streets shall be made to comply with the prevailing Subdivision Street Requirements of the Virginia Department of Transportation, or to another standard deemed acceptable by such Department, at no cost to funds administered by it.

11-A-3-b Each deed of conveyance shall include the covenants cited in 11-A-3-(a) and each plat including a street situated on a private access easement shall include the following statement: "Maintenance of streets on private access easements shall not be maintained by the County of Clarke or the Virginia Department of Transportation at public expense.

## 11-A-4 Street Name Signs

The subdivider shall install, at his cost, a street sign showing the names of all streets at all intersections. The signs shall conform to Virginia Department of Transportation specifications.

### 11-A-5 Half Streets

- Half streets shall not be permitted except where such streets are essential to the reasonable development of the proposed subdivision in conformity with the other requirements of these regulations and where the Planning Commission finds it will be practical to require the dedication of the other half of the street when the adjoining property is subdivided.
- When the Planning Commission deems it essential for the development and construction of a half street when a subdivision abuts one side of any public street which is in the State Highway System, the subdivider shall be required to construct street improvements, storm drainage facilities, pavement, curb and gutter, and sidewalk on the one-half of said street abutting said subdivision as may be required by the Planning Commission, upon recommendation of the Virginia Department of Transportation.
- 11-A-5-c Whenever a half street is adjacent to a tract to be subdivided, the other half of the street shall be platted within such tract.
- Half streets shall not be less than one-half the standard width for the appropriate right-of-way as required by the Virginia Department of Transportation for that said street.

## 11-A-6 Improvements; Stormwater Management

(01/17/17) When required by the Virginia Department of Transportation or by State stormwater management regulations, stormwater management systems shall be provided by means of culverts, ditches, catch basins, cross drains, curbs and gutters, and any other facilities that are necessary to provide adequate management of surface and storm waters from or across all streets and adjoining properties. Stormwater management features shall comply with State stormwater management regulations. Appropriate drainage easements shall also be provided as

required by the Planning Commission, Board of Supervisors, and/or the Virginia Department of Highways and Transportation.

Where public water and/or public sewer facilities are available or required by the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance, or may be reasonably required by the Planning Commission in the interest of the public health, safety and general welfare, the service shall be extended to all lots within a subdivision and shall meet all regulations and specifications of the Clarke County Sanitary Authority and any other applicable federal, state, or local agency.

## 11-B AGREEMENTS AND BONDS

- All physical improvements required by the provisions of this Ordinance or as a contingency to approval of a Record Plat for the subdivision as platted shall be installed therein and thereon at the expense of the subdivider.
- Pending actual installation of all such required improvements, and prior to approval of the Record Plat by the Planning Commission, the subdivider shall execute and file with the Board of Supervisors one or more, or a combination of, the following forms of secured performance guarantees:
  - 1. A certified check or cash escrow;
  - 2. A personal, corporate, or property bond, with surety satisfactory to the Board;
  - 3. Written certification that the construction costs have been paid to the person (or persons) constructing such improvements along with a copy of all contracts for the construction of such improvements, the contractor's verification of receipt of such payment, and if required by the Board, the contractor's bond, with surety satisfactory to the Board;
  - 4. A bond or savings and loan association's letter of credit on certain designated funds, satisfactory to the Board as to the bank or savings and loan association and as to the form of such security.
- All such forms of secured performance guarantees as provided for herein shall be in an amount determined by the Board, upon a recommendation by the Planning Commission, to be equal to the total estimated costs of all such required improvements, plus 10%, and shall guarantee proper and satisfactory installation of all such improvements within a designated length of time as specified in the security instrument, and shall be payable to and held by the County of Clarke.
- After construction of any streets in a subdivision is completed, and until such streets are accepted into the State Highway System, a portion of any secured performance guarantees, as provided for and required by the provisions herein, shall be retained in an amount determined by the Board, upon a recommendation of the Resident Engineer, to be sufficient for, and conditioned upon, satisfactory maintenance of such streets. Maintenance of such streets, curbs, gutters, drainage facilities, utilities and other street improvements in a manner satisfactory to the Board and the Virginia Department of Transportation, including the correction of defects or damages and the removal of snow, water, or debris so as to keep such streets reasonably open for public usage.
- 11-B-3 Upon acceptance of all streets in a subdivision into the State Highway System, and/or upon completion of construction or installation of all other physical improvements required by the provisions of this Ordinance or as a contingency to approval of a Record Plat, the subdivider shall furnish written certification that all construction and installation of such improvements

conforms to the requirements and specifications of the Virginia Department of Transportation, the Board of Supervisors, and the Planning Commission, as approved or required in conjunction with the approval of the Record Plat.

- 11-B-4 Upon evidence of satisfactory compliance with all provisions and requirements set forth herein, secured performance guarantees held by the County of Clarke shall be released in full.
- In the absence of secured performance guarantees as required in Section 11-B, above, no Record Plat shall be approved or recorded.

## 11-C CONSTRUCTION RESPONSIBILITIES

The subdivider and/or contractor shall have available on the project, at all times, a clearly readable copy of all approved plans and specifications and shall cooperate in every way possible with the Zoning Administrator and any inspector or representative of the County and of any other federal, state, and local agency

### 12 EFFECTUAL CLAUSES

## 12-A VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

- All departments, officials, and public employees of Clarke County vested with the duty or authority to issue permits or licenses shall conform to the provisions of this Ordinance and shall issue no such permit or license for uses, structures, or purposes where the same would be in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, and any such permit or license, if issued in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, shall be null and void.
- 12-A-2 It shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance for any person, firm, corporation, owner, or agent to disobey, neglect, or refuse to comply with, or resist the enforcement of, any of the provisions of this Ordinance.
- 12-A-3 Any person who knowingly and intentionally makes any false statement relating to a material fact for the purpose of complying with the requirements of this Ordinance shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$1,000 and/or 30 days in jail.
- Any person subdividing, transferring, or selling lots or parcels in violation of this Ordinance shall be subject to a fine of not more than \$1,000 for each lot or parcel of land so subdivided, transferred, or sold; and the description of such lot or parcel by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring shall not exempt the transaction from such penalties or from the remedies herein provided. Purchasers who purchase lots that are in violation of this Ordinance shall not be entitled to building permits or other permits authorizing construction upon or improvements to such lots, and the conveyance of the lot or lots to the purchaser shall be voidable at the option of the purchaser. Any person who otherwise violates the provisions of this Ordinance shall be subject to a fine of not more than \$1,000.
- 12-A-5 The Planning Commission, in addition to other remedies, may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent a violation or attempted violation of this Ordinance; to restrain, correct, or abate such violation; or to prevent any act that would constitute such a violation.

## 12-B APPEALS

(10/17/89) Any subdivider aggrieved by an interpretation, administration, or enforcement of this Ordinance may appeal to the Circuit Court of Clarke County provided by law.

### 12-C VALIDITY

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of this Ordinance is, for any reason, held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the Ordinance.

### 12-D AMENDMENTS

This Ordinance may be amended in whole or in part by the Board of Supervisors, provided that any such amendment shall either originate with or be submitted before amendment to the Planning Commission for its recommendation, such recommendation to be made within sixty-three days of receipt; and further provided that no such amendment may be adopted unless it is in conformity with the provisions of Title 15.2, Chapter 22, Article 6 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended.

### 12-E VACATION OF PLAT

(11/20/12)

Any plat of record may be vacated in accordance with the provisions of the Virginia Land Subdivision Act, Title 15.2, Chapter 22, Article 6, Sections 2271 and 2272. Vacation of any plat of record, or of any portion of a plat of record, of subdivided land situated in the Agricultural-Open Space-Conservation (AOC) or the Forestal-Open Space-Conservation (FOC) zoning districts shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3-D-8 of the Clarke County Zoning Ordinance.

## 12-F FEES

To compensate the County for costs incurred for administration, examining plats, making investigations, advertising, travel, and other work incidental to the review of plats, a fee shall be payable to "Treasurer, Clarke County" in such amount as shall from time to time be set by schedule adopted by resolution of the Board of Supervisors.

## 12-G EFFECTIVE DATE

This Subdivision Ordinance shall be effective at and after 12:01 a.m., the 14th day of May, 1974.